UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

An Investigation into Y Chromosome Protection and Therapeutic Potential in Pulmonary Hypertension

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7x58h347

Author Cunningham, Christine

Publication Date 2021

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

An Investigation into Y Chromosome Protection and Therapeutic Potential in Pulmonary Hypertension

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in Molecular, Cellular & Integrative Physiology

by

Christine Marie Cunningham

© Copyright by

Christine Marie Cunningham

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

An Investigation into Y Chromosome Protection and Therapeutic Potential in Pulmonary Hypertension

by

Christine Marie Cunningham Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular, Cellular & Integrative Physiology University of California, Los Angeles, 2021 Professor Mansoureh Eghbali, Chair

Pulmonary arterial hypertension is a rare but terminal pulmonary vascular disease characterized by elevated pressure in the pulmonary circulation coupled with right ventricular hypertrophy and failure. This disease is up to four times more common in women—a striking sex difference that cannot be explained by the contributions of sex hormones alone. This dissertation is a compilation of the first work investigating the sex biasing contributions of sex chromosomes in pulmonary arterial hypertension.

In **Chapter 2**, we use powerful mouse models to identify the male-specific Y chromosome confers protection against the development of experimental pulmonary hypertension. In **Chapter 3**, we use a combination of experimental models and bioinformatic approaches to identify the gene on the Y chromosome that protects males against the development of pulmonary hypertension and its downstream effector genes. We found the Y

chromosome gene Uty protects against the development of pulmonary hypertension by attenuating a proinflammatory lung response. Loss or lack of Uty gene expression results in an elevated inflammatory response that contributes detrimentally to disease severity. We identified two chemokines, Cxcl9 and Cxcl10, that are downstream of and inversely related to Uty as particularly harmful in pulmonary hypertension. We show that blocking their activity is sufficient to extend Y chromosome protection to females in a novel, preclinical therapy. In **Chapter 4**, we expand on our findings of downstream Uty effector genes and identify a sex-specific upregulation of Endothelin-2 that is linked to loss of Uty expression and elevated Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 levels. While the role of Endothelin-1 is known in pulmonary hypertension, the role of Endothelin-2, a proinflammatory and vasoconstrictive peptide, has not yet been studied. Our findings regarding Endothelin-2 help explain a clinical sex difference in the efficacy of endothelin receptor antagonist therapies for pulmonary hypertension where females are more responsive to treatment.

Taken together, this dissertation offers evidence of a powerful sex-biasing Y chromosome effect in pulmonary hypertension, elucidates novel therapeutic approaches for the treatment of this terminal disease, and serves as an example of the translational relevance in investigating sex differences in disease. While the studies presented provide the first insight into the role of sex chromosomes in pulmonary hypertension, they also provide a foundation for further examination which are highlighted here as future directions.

iii

The dissertation of Christine Marie Cunningham is approved.

Arthur P. Arnold

Thomas Vondriska

Xia Yang

Mansoureh Eghbali, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

This dissertation is dedicated to my family whose love and support are unconditional and unwavering.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES	ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xii
VITA	xvi

CHAPTER 1: Introduction1
Pulmonary circulation2
Pulmonary hypertension4
Overview and prevalence4
Pulmonary arterial hypertension6
Histological and molecular signatures6
Therapeutic strategies11
Sex differences in PAH13
Overview13
Sex Hormones13
Sex Chromosomes15
<i>Overview</i> 15
X-chromosome effects17
Y-chromosome effects
Summary
References

CHAPTER 2: The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic

Pulmo	onary Hypertension	37
	Abstract	38
	Introduction	40
	Materials and Methods	41
	Results	46
	Discussion	54
	References	59

CHAPTER 3: Y-Chromosome Gene, Uty, protects against Pulmonary Hyperte	nsion by
Reducing Proinflammatory Chemokines	66
Abstract	67
Introduction	69
Materials and Methods	71
Results	79
Discussion	89
Supplementary Tables	95
Supplementary Figures	
Acknowledgements	
References	100

Introduction	
Materials and Methods	110
Results	112
Discussion	120
References	124

CHAP	PTER 5: Conclusion and Future Directions	127
	Conclusions	128
	Future directions	135
	Final remarks from the author	141
	References	142

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

Figure 1.1: Schematic of pulmonary (small circulation) and systemic (great
circulation) in the mammalian heart3
Figure 1.2: Overview of normal pulmonary circulation compared to pulmonary
hypertension5
Figure 1.3: Overview of the various pathological processes known to be
associated with PAH development
Figure 1.4: The genetics behind sex chromosome biasing effects
Figure 1.5: An overview of the FCG and XY* mouse models

CHAPTER 2: The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension

Figure 2.1: Overview of the FCG and XY* mouse models
Figure 2.2: Gonadectomized male and female XY mice develop less severe PH
compared to male and female XX mice47
Figure 2.3: Hypoxic gonadectomized male and female XX mice develop
more severe pulmonary vascular remodeling compared to male and female XY
mice
Figure 2.4: Hypoxic gonadectomized mice with a Y chromosome develop less
severe PH compared to mice without a Y chromosome
Table 2.1: Y chromosome genes expressed in lung and heart tissues

Table 2.2: Change in Y chromosome gene expression between male healthy and

 PAH lung tissue
 53

CHAPTER 3: Y-Chromosome Gene, *Uty*, protects against Pulmonary Hypertension by reducing Proinflammatory Chemokines

Figure 3.1: Lung-specific knockdown of Uty, but not other ChrY genes expressed Figure 3.2: Proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 are autosomal downstream deterrents of Uty protection and are upregulated in PAH patient lungs Figure 3.3: Uty, Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 are co-localized in macrophages and Uty **Figure 3.4:** CXCL9 and CXCL10 recombinant protein triggers pulmonary artery Figure 3.5: Blocking the activity of CXCLI9 and CXCL10 is sufficient to rescue PH Figure 3.6: Proposed mechanism of Uty/Cxcl9/10 axis in PH pathogenesis 91 Supplemental Figure E1: Knockdown of Uty in Hx male mouse lungs results in Supplemental Figure E2: Uty is expressed in macrophages in the lungs of male

Supplemental Figure E3: Schematic of proposed mechanism of Y chron	mosome
gene, Uty, protection in PH through the downstream genes Cxcl9/10 and E	T-2 and
potential therapeutic targets	

CHAPTER 4: Upregulation of Endothelin-2 in pulmonary arterial hypertension in females could explain sexually dimorphic response to endothelin receptor antagonists

Figure 4.1: Schematic of bioinformatic analysis to identify Uty- and sex-specific
candidate genes
Figure 4.2: Knockdown of Y chromosome gene Uty in the lungs of PH mice results
in an upregulation of ET-2 expression 115
Figure 4.3: ET-2 expression is upregulated in the lungs of PAH female patients
but not male PAH patients 116
Figure 4.4: Endothelin receptor expression is upregulated in healthy female lungs
compared to healthy males and altered in PAH in a sex-specific manner 118
Figure 4.5: Human recombinant CXCL9 and CXCL10 chemokines promote ET-2
secretion by vascular endothelial cells 119
Figure 4.6: Schematic of ET-2 overexpression in female PAH lungs

CHAPTER 5: Conclusion and Future Directions

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation highlights some of the scientific findings I've been lucky enough to have helped discover throughout my graduate studies; however, it does not encompass the self-discovery that has happened parallel to my scientific endeavors. The pursuit of a PhD is a tremendously humbling experience, but is also one of self-discovery and maturity as well. Throughout these six years, I've overcome many of my fears, insecurities, and self-doubts. I've learned that in order to be able to trust in the scientific process, you must trust yourself. While the data I show in the subsequent pages represent my passion for and impact on science, I am most proud of the intrapersonal achievements I've made. The confidence, tenacity, and independence I've gained through this process are the most important skills that I take with me to ensure successful future scientific endeavors. It's through applying these skills that I will be able to continue scientific pursuits and, with some luck, contribute to meaningful discoveries. While some months and years were more productive than others, I know now that no time is wasted as long as there is personal growth.

I also know that these personal and professional triumphs were the direct result of overcoming challenges, and that I could not have overcome the many challenges I faced throughout my PhD alone. For that, I would like to acknowledge all of those who have supported me during this time.

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my mentor Dr. Mansoureh Eghbali for her unwavering support and mentorship. Thank you for always lifting me up, giving me space

xii

for growth and creativity, and championing my voice. You have been an unparalleled coach throughout this process.

I would like to thank all the talented members of the Eghbali Lab—past and present—for their support, expertise, patience, and lasting entertainment. Together, you've made the Eghbali Lab feel like my home. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Gregoire Ruffenach for his patience, guidance, and for always taking the time to meet me at the drawing board to build on scientific ideas.

Thank you to my brilliant committee members Drs. Art Arnold, Tom Vondriska, and Xia Yang for your guidance and encouragement. You've been incredible role models for me, and I've learned so much from each of you.

Thank you to Dr. Mark Frye and Yesenia Rayos for the tireless work you do to ensure the Molecular, Cellular & Integrative Physiology program at UCLA is supportive place of growth for us students.

I would like to acknowledge the entire Anesthesiology Department and current department chair, Dr. Maxime Cannesson, for providing the most supportive environment to conduct research. In particular, I would also like to thank the Division of Molecular Medicine past and present directors Drs. Yibin Wang and Tom Vondriska; our wonderful business office staff particularly Laura Benscoter an Knarik Piloyan; and Noel Bagsik. I would also like to extend thanks to our close collaborator Dr. Soban Umar who was always willing to teach me, and so many others, important technical skills and for always being available to lend a helping experimental hand.

xiii

Thank you to the MCIP Cohort Class of 2015 for being the best possible group of budding scientists and friends I could have asked for. I'm so proud of the journey each of you has taken and the incredible science you've produced.

I would also like to extend a huge thanks to my friends and family who have supported, loved, and cheered me on throughout this arduous process. I'm so grateful for our moments of laughter, tears, and all the memories in between. You provide the perfect counterbalance to my scientific endeavors.

Finally, I would like to thank my siblings and parents for their endless love and support. Michael thank you for inspiring me to always seek out new hobbies and find joy in the simple things. Thanks to you and Lizzie for bringing my niece Clara into the world, the source of our greatest joy. Tressa, thank you for being the best friend and sister I could ever ask for. You are the most thoughtful person and always make time for me. I'm incredibly proud of the person you've become and am so glad to be part of your ever evolving, impressive narrative. Dad, thank you for always encouraging me to follow my passions with courage and conviction. You've led by example, taught me the meaning of hard work, and showed me that life has as many chapters as you are willing to write. Finally, Mom, thank you for being the most all-encompassing, never-ending source of truly unconditional love and support. I cannot imagine going through this journey without you—everything I am, you've helped me to be. This dissertation would not be possible without you. I would also like to acknowledge and thank my **funding sources** who provided fiscal support and career development throughout my training including: T32 Training Grant in Molecular, Cellular & Integrative Physiology (T32GM065823), American Heart Association Predoctoral Fellowship (17PRE33420159), Iris Cantor-UCLA Women's Health Center Executive Advisory Board NCATS UCLA CTSI (UL1TR001881), and the Graduate Division Dissertation Year Fellowship.

Chapter 1 includes a portion of text adapted from *Cunningham CM*, *Eghbali M. An Introduction to Epigenetics in Cardiovascular Development, Disease, and Sexualization. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1065:31–47.*

I would like to acknowledge my mentor Mansoureh Eghbali for giving me the opportunity to contribute to this textbook chapter and for her steadfast guidance throughout the process.

Chapter 2 is a modified version of Umar S, Cunningham CM, Itoh Y, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Sarji S, Centala A, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018 Apr 1;197(7):952-955.

I would like to first thank Soban Umar and Mansoueh Eghbali for the oppertunity to work on this project. I would like to acknowledge Soban Umar and Alex Centala for their contributions to the animal studies; Yuichiro Itoh for his analysis of online datasets; Shayan Moazeni, Shervin Sarji, and Mylene Vaillancourt for their help with histological sectioning, staining, and quantification; Arthur P Arnold for supplying animal models and intelectual input; and Mansoureh Eghbali as the principle investigator for this work.

VITA

EDUCATION	
University of California, Los Angeles	Los Angeles, CA
Oct 2015- June 2021, PhD Candidate, Molecular, Cellular & Inter	grative Physiology
Stanford University	Palo Alto, CA
Sept 2007- June 2011, Bachelor of Science	
RESEARCH AND WORK EXPERIENCE	
PhD Candidate, University of California, Los Angeles	Los Angeles, CA
Oct 2015- June 2021	
Teaching Assistant, University of California, Los Angeles	Los Angeles, CA
2017 and 2018, Physiological Sciences 149: Systems Biology Major Cardiometabolic Diseases	y and Mechanisms of
Shiley Center for Orthopaedic Research and Education	La Jolla, CA
2013- 2015, Research Volunteer	,
Histogen, Inc.	San Diego, CA
2011-2013, Research Assistant	
Hopkins Marine Station of Stanford University	Pacific Grove, CA
2010, Spring Quarter, Undergraduate Research Assistant	-, -

GRANTS AND FELLOWSHIPS

- 2020- 2021 Dissertation Year Fellowship, UCLA Graduate Division
- 2019-2020 Iris Cantor/CTSI Young Investigator Fellowship Award
- 2017-2019 American Heart Association Predoctoral Fellowship
- 2016-2017 T32 NIH Fellowship, Ruth L. Kirschstein National Research Service Award

PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Hong J, Arneson D, Umar S, Ruffenach G, <u>Cunningham CM</u>, Ahn IS, Diamante G, Bhetraratana M, Park JF, Said E, Huynh C, Le T, Medzikovic L, Humbert M, Soubrier F, Montani D, Girerd B, Trégouët DA, Channick R, Saggar R, Eghbali M, Yang X. (2020). Single-cell Study of Two Rat Models of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Reveals Connections to Human Pathobiology and Drug Repositioning. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med:* Ahead of print. Link

Ruffenach G, O'Connor E, Vaillancourt M, Hong J, Cao N, Sarji S, Moazeni S, Papesh J, Grijalva V, <u>Cunningham CM</u>, Shu L, Chattopadhyay A, Tiwari S, Mercier O, Perros F, Umar S, Yang X, Gomes AV, Fogelman AM, Reddy ST, Eghbali M. (2020). Oral 15-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid Induces Pulmonary Hypertension in Mice by Triggering T Cell-Dependent Endothelial Cell Apoptosis. *Hypertension*:76(3):985-996. Link

Medzikovic L, <u>Cunningham CM</u>, Li M, Amjedi M, Hong J, Ruffenach G, Eghbali M. (2020). Sex differences underlying preexisting cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular injury in COVID-19. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*:148:25-33. <u>Link</u>

Umar S, Ruffenach G, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Hong J, <u>Cunningham C</u>, Cao N, Navab S, Sarji S, Li M, Lee L, Fishbein G, Ardehali A, Navab M, Reddy ST, Eghbali M. (2020). Involvement of Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor in the Pathogenesis of Pulmonary Hypertension. *Journal of the American Heart Association:* 9(2): e012063. Link

Ruffenach G, Umar S, Vaillancourt M, Hong J, Cao N, Sarji S, Moazeni S, <u>**Cunningham CM**</u>, Ardehali A, Reddy ST, Saggar R, Fishbein G, Eghbali M. (2019). Histological hallmarks and role of Slug/PIP axis in pulmonary hypertension secondary to pulmonary fibrosis. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*: 11(9): e1006. <u>Link</u>

Sulaiman, D., Li, J., Devarajan, A., <u>Cunningham, C. M.</u>, Li, M., Fogelman, A. M., Reddy, S. T. (2019). Paraoxonase 2 Protects Against Myocardial Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury by Modulating Mitochondrial Function and Oxidative Stress via the PI3K/Akt/GSK-3β RISK Pathway *J Mol Cell Cardiol*: epub. Link

<u>Cunningham, C. M</u>., & Eghbali, M. (2018). An Introduction to Epigenetics in Cardiovascular Development, Disease, and Sexualization. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology:*1065, 31–47. Link

Umar, S., Li, J., Hannabass, K., Vaillancourt, M., <u>Cunningham, C. M</u>., Moazeni, S., Eghbali, M. (2018). Free Fatty Acid Receptor G-protein-coupled Receptor 40 Mediates Lipid Emulsion-induced Cardioprotection. *Anesthesiology:* 129(1), 154–162. <u>Link</u>

Umar, S., <u>Cunningham, C. M</u>., Itoh, Y., Moazeni, S., Vaillancourt, M., Sarji, S., Eghbali, M. (2018). The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med:* 197(7): 952–955. <u>Link</u>

lorga, A., <u>Cunningham, C. M</u>., Moazeni, S., Ruffenach, G., Umar, S., & Eghbali, M. (2017). The protective role of estrogen and estrogen receptors in cardiovascular disease and the controversial use of estrogen therapy. *Biology of Sex Differences:* 8(1), 33. <u>Link</u>

Li, J., Ruffenach, G., Kararigas, G., <u>Cunningham, C. M.</u>, Motayagheni, N., Barakai, N., Eghbali, M. (2017). Intralipid protects the heart in late pregnancy against ischemia/reperfusion injury via Caveolin2/STAT3/GSK-3β pathway. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*:102, 108–116. Link

Vaidya, B., Pangallo, M., Ruffenach, G., <u>Cunningham, C. M.</u>, Perron, J. C., Kolluru, S., Gupta, V. (2017). Advances in treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension: patent review. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents:* 27(8), 907–918. <u>Link</u>

Nourian, A. A., <u>Cunningham, C. M.</u>, Bagheri, A., Bruffey, J. D., & Eastlack, R. K. (2016). Effect of Anatomic Variability and Level of Approach on Perioperative Vascular Complications with Anterior Lumbar Interbody Fusion. *Spine: 41*(2), E73-77. <u>Link</u>

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

This chapter includes a portion of text adapted from *Cunningham CM, Eghbali M. An Introduction to Epigenetics in Cardiovascular Development, Disease, and Sexualization. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1065:31–47.*

1. Pulmonary circulation

The mammalian heart is composed of four chambers: two atria which act as reservoirs to receive blood entering the heart, and two ventricles which act as muscularized pumps to distribute blood out from the heart (Figure 1). The ventricles, which are separated longitudinally by an intraventricular septum (IVS), largely vary in their size and appearance due to the physiological demands imposed by the body. While the larger, muscularized left ventricle (LV) pumps oxygenated blood throughout the body via the high pressured systemic circulatory system, the much smaller, thin-walled right ventricle (RV) pumps deoxygenated blood throughout the lungs via the low pressured pulmonary circulatory system to allow for gas exchange to occur. Typically, the RV fills and contracts without significant dilation or impact on the overall pressure of the circulatory system as to not impede LV filling or function (1–3). To accomplish this, the RV maintains its shape and pressure while adapting to dynamic changes in the blood volume it receives from the vena cava. Since venous return is largely dependent on the metabolic demands of the body, the volume of blood the RV receives and overall cardiac output can change rapidly as a response to stress and exercise (4). The RV is able to comply with rapid changes in venous return and increased cardiac output without fluctuations in pressure pulmonary artery (PA) pressure due to adequate vascular compliance and pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR) (4, 5). Vascular compliance refers to the ability of an artery, in this case the PA, to expand and constrict to compensate for the change in the pressure and volume of blood. PVR, a measure of RV afterload, refers to the pressure gradient across the lungs as determined by the quantity and elasticity of the lung vasculature (1). In healthy circulation, pulmonary vascular compliance is relatively high while PVR is low allowing for



Figure 1. Schematic of pulmonary (small circulation) and systemic (great circulation) in the mammalian heart. *Reprint from Shutterstock.*

low pressure gas exchange to occur despite fluctuations in blood volume due to metabolic demands.

Changes in pulmonary vascular compliance and PVR can result in increased PA pressure (PAP). Since the thin-walled RV is optimized for a low-pressure system, chronic increase in PA pressure leads to persistent increased RV afterload which can quickly progress to RV failure (5).

2. Pulmonary hypertension

Overview and prevalence

PH is a rare but terminal disease that is increasing in prevalence worldwide (6). PH refers to an overarching classification of cardio-pulmonary diseases characterized by an increase in mean PAP (mPAP) above 20 mmHg at rest (7). Chronic increase in mPAP, as seen in patients with PH, results in sustained increased RV pressure which leads to compensatory RV hypertrophy (**Figure 2**). Rather quickly, the RV is unable to maintain increased pressures and decompensatory heart failure ensues resulting in RV dilation and failure. The diagnosis of PH includes right ventricular catheterization to measure pressure, although parameters of PH can also be estimated via noninvasive echocardiography.

The classification of pulmonary hypertension is split into five groups based on shared pathophysiology, hemodynamics, and treatment strategies. Group 1 PH includes pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH), Group 2 includes PH due to left heart disease, Group 3 includes PH due to lung disease and/or hypoxia, Group 4 includes PH due to



Figure 2. Overview of normal pulmonary circulation compared to pulmonary hypertension. Pulmonary hypertension is characterized by aberrant vasoconstriction of the pulmonary arterioles and increased pressure, hypertrophy, and failure of the right ventricle (RV). *Adapted from Shutterstock.*

pulmonary artery obstructions, and Group 5 includes PH due to unclear or multifactorial problems (7). The main focus of this dissertation is PAH which is classified as Group 1 PH.

Pulmonary arterial hypertension

PAH is a pre-capillary form of PH hemodynamically characterized by an increase in mPAP > 20 mm Hg without elevation in a PA wedge pressure (PAWP), indicating high mPAP in the absence of elevated left atrial pressures (8). Thus, the increased mPAP indicative of PAH is primarily due to increased PVR within the lungs. Increased PVR associated with PAH is caused by vascular abnormalities mainly in the medial and distal arteries in the lungs (9). The source of these vascular abnormalities further subdivides PAH into groups based on pathogenesis. These groups include primary forms of PAH (7).

Unfortunately, there are between 500-1000 new cases of PAH diagnosed annually, and the median survival time is five to seven years following diagnosis (10, 11). Taken together, it is clear that investigation into the pathogenesis and treatment of PAH is of utmost importance.

Histological and molecular signatures

PAH is histologically characterized by aberrant vascular remodeling within the pulmonary arterioles. Types of vascular remodeling found in PAH patients varies and can include medial hypertrophy, neointimal formation, complex lesions, and loss or muscularization of distal arterioles (9). These histological processes result in stiffening, occlusion, and loss of pulmonary vasculature which contribute to the increased PVR and mPAP

indicative of PAH (**Figure 2**). The pathogenic vascular changes in PAH are triggered by a multitude of molecular processes that include, but are not limited to, vascular cell dysfunction and inflammation (**Figure 3**).

While many cell types contribute to the healthy homeostasis of the pulmonary vasculature, the most common vascular cell types implicated in PAH include smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and endothelial cells (ECs). SMCs are muscularized cells found in the medial layer of arteries which provide vascular integrity and ability to modulate the diameter of vessels through vasoconstriction and vasodilation (Figure 2). SMCs exhibit excessive proliferation and hypertrophy resulting in thickening and stiffening of medial pulmonary arteries which are normally relatively thin-walled and compliant (9). Dysfunctional and hyperproliferative SMCs also migrate toward the intimal layer of the vessels in a process called neointimal formation which contributes to the narrowing and occlusion found in PAH (9). Dysfunctional ECs, which comprise the innermost intimal later within vessels, can also contribute to the aberrant muscularization and thickening within the distal pulmonary arterioles (9, 12). While distal arterioles normally lack a muscular SMC layer, dysfunctional ECs in PAH patients transition to a contractile SMC phenotype in a process called endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition which, in addition to EC swelling, contribute to narrowing of vessels (13, 14). Dysfunctional ECs found in PAH patient lung vasculature also contribute to disease severity through plexiform lesion formation as well as impaired angiogenesis and altered production of vasoconstrictive agents (Figure 2). Diseased ECs initially exhibit increased apoptosis which contributes to a reduced density of distal pulmonary arterioles within patients' lung and an impaired angiogenic response to inefficient oxygen exchange. However, it is known that ECs that



Figure 3: Overview of the various pathological processes known to be associated with PAH development. *Adapted from Sharma, et al., Pulm Circ. 2016* (15).

resist apoptosis in response to PAH are dysfunctional which results in increased expression of the potent vasoconstrictive peptide Endothelin-1 (ET-1) and the formation of plexiform lesions which are complex channels within the vascular lumen that impede blood flow (9, 12, 16–18).

Taken together, the hyperproliferative state of SMCs and muscularization of ECs in contributes to increased PVR and increased PAP in PAH patients' lungs through occlusion and stiffening of the medial and distal pulmonary vasculature. This is further compounded by increased expression of vasoconstrictive agents, such as ET-1, which are released by injured ECs. EC apoptosis and dysfunction also contribute to an overall loss of vascular density within the lungs of PAH patients and turbulent and disordered flow through the vasculature.

PAH patients also exhibit dysregulation of inflammatory pathways, and lung inflammation is now thought to play a causal role in PAH development (19). Complex plexiform lesions, which are highly disorganized and remodeled vessels within PAH patient lungs, exhibit perivascular inflammation and increased infiltrate of immune cells particularly lymphocytes and macrophages (19–21). Regulatory T-lymphocytes and Cd68⁺ macrophages are known to be necessary for maintenance of pulmonary vascular homeostasis, and alterations in the function or balance between these cells has been linked to aberrant vascular remodeling seen in PAH (20). Further studies report that degree of perivascular inflammation is positively correlated with vascular wall thickening and elevated RV pressure indicating a causal role of increased inflammation in PAH development (19). Experimentally, studies confirm that inflammation is a driving force for PAH development since aberrant inflammation triggers vascular remodeling and elevated

RV pressure in various animal models of PH—particularly in the monocrotaline (MCT)induced and oxidized lipid-induced models of PH (20). In the MCT model, MCT toxin is injected into rats which causes endothelial cell injury followed by a large infiltration of immune cells to the injured vasculature (22). MCT treated animals develop severe PH within 4 weeks of exposure to MCT toxin. Likewise, multiple reports demonstrate a causal role of increased oxidized lipid exposure, which triggers elevated lung inflammation, in PH development in rodent models (23, 24).

Because PAH patients exhibit elevated lung inflammation, components of proinflammatory signaling pathways have been linked to PAH and identified as biomarkers for PAH development. Signaling peptides, called chemokines, or chemotactic cytokines, play a large role in cell migration and function (25, 26). This includes recruiting inflammatory cells to the site of injured vasculature through forming a chemokine gradient by adhering to the vascular endothelium. Chemokines are secreted by various inflammatory cells in the lung as well as vascular cell types. They act by eliciting a proinflammatory response and/or alter cellular function through biding to their respective receptor. Circulating levels of chemokines have been associated with disease severity and serve as biomarkers and prognostics for PAH. Furthermore, dysregulation of chemokines and their receptors within the lungs have been associated with PAH development (26).

Inflammation, vascular injury, and vascular remodeling are all histological and molecular signatures of PAH that are intimately connected and perpetuated by one another. While current PAH therapies target symptoms of disease, the future direction of PAH

therapeutics lies in understanding and targeting these underlying factors that contribute to PAH pathogenesis.

Therapeutic strategies

While there is no cure for PAH, there are a handful of drugs regularly prescribed to PAH patients that can improve patient quality of life, hemodynamics, and functional outcome. The majority of therapies used primarily target vasoconstriction through the endothelin, nitric oxide (NO), and prostacyclin pathways (27, 28). Targeting these pathways in combination is commonplace and has been shown to have an additive benefit compared to treatment with a single therapy (29).

Endothelin receptor antagonists (ERAs), blocking one or both endothelin receptor, are often prescribed to block the vasoconstrictive and proliferative effects of ET-1. ET-1, which is upregulated by injured ECs and known to be elevated in PAH patient lungs, promotes contraction and proliferation of vascular SMCs resulting in increased PVR (30). ERAs effectively increase exercise capacity, pulmonary hemodynamics, symptoms, and right-ventricular function (31). They have also been found to increase overall patient survival in cases of advanced idiopathic PAH (32). Interestingly, treatment with ERAs exhibit a marked sex difference which is described further below (33).

Conversely, NO is a powerful vasodilator secreted by the lung endothelium that also inhibits SMC proliferation (34, 35). Inhaled NO is used as a therapy for PH patients, particularly in pediatric cases; however, there are substantial concerns regarding cost, feasibility, and efficacy of this treatment (36). Since NO imparts its vasodilatory effects though cyclic guanylate monophosphate (cGMP), therapeutics that inhibit the

degradation of cGMP by phosphodiesterases (PDEs) are commonly prescribed to enhance and prolong the effects of NO in the lung (36). PDE inhibitors, which are mainstay treatment for PAH patients, have been shown to significantly improve the functional capacity and hemodynamics in PAH patients (37, 38). Compounds that stimulate and sensitize NO pathway activation though guanylate-cyclase are used as a therapeutic as well (39).

Finally, the most effective form of PAH treatment currently available include prostacyclin (PGI₂) analogs. PGI₂ is another vasodilator that is known to exhibit reduced expression in PAH lungs. In addition to vasodilation, PGI₂ analogs have been shown to inhibit platelet aggregation and reduce EC dysfunction in the lungs of PAH patients (40). Continual infusion of a PGI₂ analog has been shown to reduce symptoms, increase exercise tolerance, and has the most significant effect on enhancing overall PAH patient survival (41, 42).

Despite the variety of commercial drugs available to target the above pathways, treatment efficacy remains suboptimal and patient survival remains poor at around 60% at five years (43). While these available treatments target vasoconstriction in the lungs of PAH patients, no current PAH therapies target the underlying cellular dysfunction and inflammation that are known to be central to PAH pathogenesis. This dissertation proposes a novel therapeutic strategy that targets proinflammatory chemokines upregulated in PAH patient lungs in a sex-specific manner.

3. Sex differences in PAH

<u>Overview</u>

Striking and complicated sex differences exist within the prevalence, progression, and prognosis of PAH. According to a composite of national and international PAH registries between 1981 and 2013, females are between two to four times more likely to be diagnosed with PAH (44–48). This marked female predominance holds true for all subtypes of PAH with the exception of HIV-associated and portopulmonary PH, which are both more common in males (49). Paradoxically, while females are more likely to be diagnosed with PAH, they are more responsive to therapies and have a better overall prognosis than their male counterparts (50). On average, females with PAH have a lower mPAP and increased survival compared to their male counterparts (50). Additionally, they exhibit better functional improvement with treated with ERA therapies as indicated by a higher 6-minute walk score (33). Taken together, this indicates that the underlying basis for the sex differences in PAH are complex and likely a result of multiple sex-biasing factors including sex hormones and sex chromosomes.

Sex Hormones

Decades of research have been devoted to uncovering the sex disparity in PAH with an emphasis on the role of sex hormones—namely estrogens. While the role of estrogens has been well studied in the context of PAH pathogenesis, the data surrounding the effects of estrogens in PAH are paradoxical and controversial. Since estrogen is the main circulating sex hormone in premenopausal females, it was initially hypothesized that estrogen and its metabolites would have a largely deleterious effect in PAH. Surprisingly, *in vivo* studies found estrogens to be protective against PAH since they were shown to

prevent and rescue disease development in animal models of PH, particularly through binding estrogen receptor β (51–54). On a molecular basis, estrogens have been shown to protect against PH through mediating RV compensation to pressure overload (55, 56). Since RV compensation and function is a marker for survival, perhaps it is the protective effects of estrogens in the RV that accounts for the better prognosis in female patients.

Conversely, estrogens have also been shown to predispose females to PAH development through their interaction with bone morphogenic protein 2 (BMPR2). BMPR2 is a known heritable loss-of-function mutation found in PAH patients, and reduced expression of BMPR2 is associated with PAH in non-heritable forms of PAH as well (57). Estrogens were found to reduce expression of BMPR2 (58, 59). Regardless, the penetrance of the heritable BMPR2 mutation is only around 20%, indicating that the development of PAH may require a "two-hit" phenomenon where it takes a combination of multiple pathogenic stimuli to trigger the onset of disease. It seems one of these pathogenic factors may even include female sex, since BMPR2 mutant carrying females have a significantly higher risk of developing PAH (43%) compared to BMPR2 mutant carrying males (14%) (60, 61). Within BMPR2 mutant carrying females, levels of estrogen and its metabolites are significant predictors of increased risk of PAH development (62).

Other sex hormones have also been studied in the context of PAH, but none to the degree of estrogens. Briefly, the female-specific gonadal hormones progesterone and folliclestimulating hormone were linked to PAH severity in reproductive-aged women. High levels of follicle-stimulating hormone and low levels of progesterone were associated with increased PAH severity (63). Testosterone, the main androgenic steroid hormones which is typically elevated in males compared to females, is known to be associated with

cardiovascular disease. Studies show testosterone contributes to worse RV hypertrophy and fibrosis following pressure overload in mice (64). Since RV function is the main indicator of PAH patient survival (65), elevated testosterone levels in male compared to female patients could contribute to the worse prognosis of male PAH patients.

The PAH field is saturated with studies examining sex biasing hormones, their metabolites, and receptors. Taken together, these data indicate that sex hormones undoubtably influence PAH development and prognosis and play a role in the profound sex differences associated with PAH. However, our understanding of sex hormones remains paradoxical—indicating other sex biasing factors are at play.

Sex Chromosomes

Sex hormones are not the only sex basing factor that contribute to disease susceptibility and severity. Males and females differ in their sex chromosomes, and genes encoded by the sex chromosomes have been linked to sex-specific differences and disease. Outlined in this dissertation are the first studies to investigate sex chromosome effects in the context of PAH.

1. Overview

Mammalian sex is genetically determined by the combination of two sex chromosomes: X and Y. Typically, each female cell contains two X-chromosomes (XX) while each male cell contains one X-chromosome and one Y-chromosome (XY). While the Y-chromosome encodes for the sex determining *Sry* gene, it is much less rich in genomic data when compared to the X-chromosome or autosomes. To reduce the genetic density in female



Figure 4. The genetics behind sex chromosome biasing effects. The X chromosome *(pink)* and Y chromosome *(blue)* encode genes *(listed)* that are expressed in the heart and lungs which exhibit sex-specific expression patterns. Y chromosome genes are exclusive to males (XY) and are absent in female (XX) tissue. Incomplete X-inactivation of the second chromosome in females, through DNA hypermethylation and chromosome condensation, results in a subset of genes that that escape inactivation and are expressed at higher levels in females than males. *Adapted from Cunningham, Eghbali, Adv Exp Med Bio. 2018* (66).

cells to match that of males, one X-chromosome in females becomes largely inactivated in a finely-tuned process orchestrated by a series of epigenetic modifiers (**Figure 4**). The condensed, X-inactivated state of one X chromosome is maintained throughout all subsequent cell divisions in females (67).

2. X-chromosome effects

While X-inactivation largely silences one X-chromosome in female cells to match the Xchromosome gene expression levels in male cells, this inactivation does not include all genes. In fact, it is thought that between 12-20% of the protein coding genes on the inactivated X-chromosome are expressed (68). These genes, which escape Xinactivation, are commonly referred to as X-escapee genes.

While it is not entirely clear why certain X-chromosome genes escape activation, studies have shown that X-chromosome dosage (one X-chromosome versus two) imparts sex differences in disease progression and severity. Most notably, the **Four Core Genotype** (FCG) mouse model allows researchers to study sex differences due to sex chromosomes independent of gonads or gonadal hormones (69). In the FCG mouse model, the testis-determining *Sry* gene is removed from the Y-chromosome and expressed by an autosome. The autosomal *Sry* gene segregates independently from the Y-chromosome allowing for the generation of gonadal males and females with both XX and XY genotypes. Thus, mice with four genotypes are created: XY males, XX males, XY females and XX females (**Figure 5A**) (69).

Studies using FCG mice reveal that sex chromosomes are implicated in various pathologies that exhibit sex differences, including cardiovascular diseases (70–72). The
majority of these studies demonstrate that having one X-chromosome is better than having two (70–73). In the context of ischemia/reperfusion heart injury, our lab found that gonadectomized male and female mice with two X-chromosomes have a larger area of infarct, lower hemodynamic functional recovery post reperfusion, and greater mitochondrial dysfunction than male and female mice with one X chromosome (72).

X-escapee genes likely play a role in these X-chromosome dosage-dependent sex differences. Genes that have been regularly demonstrated to escape X-inactivation in various tissues, including the heart and lung, include: *Kdm5c, Kdm6a, Ddx3x* and *Eif2s3x* (73). Interestingly, these genes affect widespread gene transcription through direct or indirect epigenetic mechanisms as *Kdm5c* and *Kdm6a* are histone demethylases, *Ddx3y* is an RNA helicase involved in RNA splicing, transcription and translation, and *Eif2s3x* is a translation initiation factor. All of these genes are capable of driving changes to normal homeostasis and have been implicated in a disease or developmental process (74–78).

Protein coding genes are not the only possible source of X-chromosome determined sex differences. In fact, the X-chromosome is densely packed with microRNAs (miRNAs) and contains approximately double the number of miRNAs found on autosomes in both mice and humans (79). In contrast, the Y-chromosome is not enriched with miRNAs and encodes little to no miRNAs (80). The degree to which X-chromosome linked miRNAs escape X-inactivation continues to be investigated, although it is known that X-chromosome encoded miRNAs undergo mutation much more rapidly than autosomal miRNAs. These X-encoded miRNAs could be a source of sex differences in tissues and diseases (79, 81).



Figure 5. An overview of the FCG and XY* mouse models. A. The Four Core Genotypes (FCG) mouse model produces gonadal males and females with both XX and XY genotypes to test the effects of sex chromosomes and gonadal sex hormones separately. B. The XY* mouse model produces near-equivalent XX and XO gonadal females and XY and XXY gonadal males to compare the effect of the number of X-chromosomes or the presence of a Y-chromosome. *Adapted from Li et al., Cardiovasc Res. 2014* (72).

3. Y-chromosome effects

In the FCG mouse model, the number of X-chromosomes is not the sole sex chromosome effect that could influence disease risk and/or pathogenesis. In fact, the differences identified between XX and XY mice of both sexes could be due to the number of X-chromosomes or the presence of a Y-chromosome. As mentioned earlier, the Y-chromosome is much less dense than autosomes and its X-chromosome counterpart. Unlike the X-chromosome, the Y-chromosome is not necessary for proper development; however, while it contains the genes necessary for proper male gonad formation and spermatogenesis, it also retained a subset of ancestral genes during its rapid evolution from an autosome beginning millions of years ago (82). These ancestral genes, expressed only on the Y-chromosome, provide another source of sex difference between males who have a Y-chromosome and females who do not.

A handful of Y-chromosome genes are known to be expressed in heart and lung tissue (83). While difficult to examine in human populations, Y-chromosome effects in cardiovascular and cardiopulmonary diseases have been documented. Single nucleotide polymorphisms within the Y-chromosome may be associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease in men. A large study found British men inheriting the Y-chromosome haplogroup I had a 50% greater risk of developing coronary artery disease (CAD) than British men with other haplogroups (84). Interestingly, a separate study found that macrophages with Y-chromosome haplogroup I had decreased expression of the Y-chromosome genes *UTY* and *PRKY* (85). As macrophages play an integral role in the development of CAD and atherosclerosis, these Y-chromosome genes could be play a role in attenuating inflammation in response to CAD (86). Notably, the studies included in

this dissertation also identified loss of *Uty* expression was associated with elevated inflammation and increased disease severity in PH.

To investigate the role of the Y-chromosome in disease experimentally, the FCG mouse model can be used in combination with the **XY* mouse model**. While the FCG mouse model allows researchers to test the effects of sex chromosomes independent from gonadal sex (**Figure 5A**), the XY* mouse model tests whether the sex differences found are due to the number of X-chromosomes or the presence of a Y-chromosome. The XY* mouse model produces near-equivalent XX and XO gonadal females and XY and XXY gonadal males (**Figure 5B**). Comparing mice with one X-chromosome (XO, XY) to those with two X-chromosomes (XX, XXY) reveals an effect of X-chromosome number, whereas comparing mice with a Y-chromosome (XY, XXY) to those without a Y-chromosome (XO, XX) shows the effect of the presence/absence of the Y-chromosome.

4. Summary

This dissertation is a collection of the first studies investigating sex chromosome effects in PAH, a pulmonary vascular disease that affects the RV and is up to four times more common in females. In **Chapter 2**, we used the FCG and XY* mouse models to investigate the role of the X and Y chromosomes in the absence of gonadal hormones. In this study, we found that the presence of a Y-chromosome was protective against the development of experimental PH. Gonadal male and female mice with a Y-chromosome exhibited lower RV pressure and less severe vascular remodeling due to experimental PH, regardless of the number of X-chromosomes (83). We hypothesized that genes

encoded by the Y-chromosome that are expressed in the heart and lung, Kdm5d, Uty, Ddx3y and Eif2s3y, confer protection against the development of PH, and we tested each of these Y-chromosome candidate genes in the context of PH in Chapter 3. We found that Uty is the sole Y chromosome gene responsible for conferring protection against experimental PH. Loss of Uty expression in macrophages resulted in an increase in proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 which resulted in endothelial dysfunction and more severe PH. Blocking the activity of Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 was sufficient to rescue PH development in female rats indicating that targeting autosomal genes downstream of Uty can extend Y chromosome protection against PH to females. In Chapter 4 we examined Endothelin-2 (ET-2), another autosomal gene downstream of Uty that may contribute to PH development and explain the sex differences observed in patient response to ERAs where females are more responsive to treatment. We found ET-2 was upregulated in the lungs of Uty knockdown mice with PH as well as in female patients with PAH but not in the lungs of male PAH patients. ET-2 is a lesser-known member of the endothelin family of potent vasoconstrictive peptides. While ET-1 is known to be upregulated in the lungs of PAH patients, we were the first to identify the sex-specific upregulation of ET-2 in females. Future experiments based on this study will further investigate the role of ET-2 in the development and treatment of PAH.

In summary, the experiments that included in this dissertation make up the first comprehensive investigation into sex chromosome effects in PH. The following chapters **1**) elucidate the protective effect of the male-specific Y chromosome in PH, **2**) uncover the molecular mechanism by which the Y chromosome exerts its protective effect in males, **3**) highlight the involvement of proinflammatory chemokines in PAH pathogenesis,

4) present a novel preclinical treatment strategy using a small molecular inhibitor already approved by the Food and Drug Administration, and **5)** provide a molecular explanation to the sex-specific disparity in response to ERA therapies for the treatment of PH. Together, this work exemplifies how thoroughly investigating sex as a biological variable can lead to novel insight into disease pathogenesis and shed light on innovative treatment strategies.

5. References

- Sanz J, Sánchez-Quintana D, Bossone E, Bogaard HJ, Naeije R. Anatomy, Function, and Dysfunction of the Right Ventricle: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2019;73:1463–1482.
- Starr I, Jeffers WA, Meade RH. The absence of conspicuous increments of venous pressure after severe damage to the right ventricle of the dog, with a discussion of the relation between clinical congestive failure and heart disease. *Am Heart J* 1943;26:291–301.
- Dynamic Responses of the Right Ventricle following Extensive Damage by Cauterization | Circulation. at https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/01.cir.5.6.816>.
- 4. Pinsky MR. The right ventricle: interaction with the pulmonary circulation. *Crit Care Lond Engl* 2016;20:266.
- 5. Vonk Noordegraaf A, Westerhof BE, Westerhof N. The Relationship Between the Right Ventricle and its Load in Pulmonary Hypertension. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2017;69:236–243.
- Wijeratne D. Thiwanka, Lajkosz Katherine, Brogly Susan B., Lougheed M. Diane, Jiang Li, Housin Ahmad, Barber David, Johnson Ana, Doliszny Katharine M., Archer Stephen L. Increasing Incidence and Prevalence of World Health Organization Groups 1 to 4 Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2018;11:e003973.
- 7. Noordegraaf AV, Groeneveldt JA, Bogaard HJ. Pulmonary hypertension. *Eur Respir Rev* 2016;25:4–11.

- 8. Condon DF, Nickel NP, Anderson R, Mirza S, de Jesus Perez VA. The 6th World Symposium on Pulmonary Hypertension: what's old is new. *F1000Research* 2019;8:.
- Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Clin Invest 2012;122:4306–4313.
- 10. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: Updates in Epidemiology and Evaluation of Patients. *AJMC* at https://www.ajmc.com/view/pulmonary-arterial-hypertension-updates-in-epidemiology-and-evaluation-of-patients.
- 11. Learn About Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. at </lung-health-diseases/lungdisease-lookup/pulmonary-arterial-hypertension/learn-about-pulmonary-arterialhypertension>.
- 12. Budhiraja Rohit, Tuder Rubin M., Hassoun Paul M. Endothelial Dysfunction in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation* 2004;109:159–165.
- 13. Tang H, Babicheva A, McDermott KM, Gu Y, Ayon RJ, Song S, Wang Z, Gupta A, Zhou T, Sun X, Dash S, Wang Z, Balistrieri A, Zheng Q, Cordery AG, Desai AA, Rischard F, Khalpey Z, Wang J, Black SM, Garcia JGN, Makino A, Yuan JX-J. Endothelial HIF-2α contributes to severe pulmonary hypertension due to endothelialto-mesenchymal transition. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2018;314:L256–L275.
- 14. Lu X, Gong J, Dennery PA, Yao H. Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition: pathogenesis and therapeutic targets for chronic pulmonary and vascular diseases. *Biochem Pharmacol* 2019;168:100–107.
- 15. Sharma S, Ruffenach G, Umar S, Motayagheni N, Reddy ST, Eghbali M. Role of oxidized lipids in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Pulm Circ* 2016;6:261–273.

- Higenbottam TW, Laude EA. Endothelial dysfunction providing the basis for the treatment of pulmonary hypertension: Giles F. Filley lecture. *Chest* 1998;114:72S-79S.
- 17. Ranchoux B, Harvey LD, Ayon RJ, Babicheva A, Bonnet S, Chan SY, Yuan JX-J, Perez V de J. Endothelial dysfunction in pulmonary arterial hypertension: an evolving landscape (2017 Grover Conference Series). *Pulm Circ* 2017;8:.
- Gao Y, Chen T, Raj JU. Endothelial and Smooth Muscle Cell Interactions in the Pathobiology of Pulmonary Hypertension. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2016;54:451– 460.
- 19. Rabinovitch M, Guignabert C, Humbert M, Nicolls MR. Inflammation and Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circ Res* 2014;115:165–175.
- 20. Dorfmüller P, Perros F, Balabanian K, Humbert M. Inflammation in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Eur Respir J* 2003;22:358–363.
- 21. Tuder RM, Groves B, Badesch DB, Voelkel NF. Exuberant endothelial cell growth and elements of inflammation are present in plexiform lesions of pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Pathol* 1994;144:275–285.
- 22. 40-O-(2-Hydroxyethyl)-rapamycin Attenuates Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and Neointimal Formation in Rats | American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. at https://www.atsjournals.org/doi/full/10.1164/ajrccm.163.2.2006093>.
- 23. Ruffenach Grégoire, O'Connor Ellen, Vaillancourt Mylène, Hong Jason, Cao Nancy, Sarji Shervin, Moazeni Shayan, Papesh Jeremy, Grijalva Victor, Cunningham Christine M., Shu Le, Chattopadhyay Arnab, Tiwari Shuchita, Mercier Olaf, Perros Frédéric, Umar Soban, Yang Xia, Gomes Aldrin V., Fogelman Alan M., Reddy

Srinivasa T., Eghbali Mansoureh. Oral 15-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid Induces Pulmonary Hypertension in Mice by Triggering T Cell–Dependent Endothelial Cell Apoptosis. *Hypertension* 2020;76:985–996.

- 24. Phenotypically Silent Bone Morphogenetic Protein Receptor 2 Mutations Predispose Rats to Inflammation-Induced Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension by Enhancing the Risk for Neointimal Transformation | Circulation. at <https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.040629>.
- 25. Comerford I, McColl SR. Mini-review series: focus on chemokines. *Immunol Cell Biol* 2011;89:183–184.
- 26. Mamazhakypov A, Viswanathan G, Lawrie A, Schermuly RT, Rajagopal S. The role of chemokines and chemokine receptors in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Br J Pharmacol* 2021;178:72–89.
- 27. Humbert M, Ghofrani H-A. The molecular targets of approved treatments for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Thorax* 2016;71:73–83.
- Vaidya B, Pangallo M, Ruffenach G, Cunningham CM, Perron JC, Kolluru S, Eghbali M, Gupta V. Advances in treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension: patent review.
 Expert Opin Ther Pat 2017;27:907–918.
- 29. Lajoie AC, Lauzière G, Lega J-C, Lacasse Y, Martin S, Simard S, Bonnet S, Provencher S. Combination therapy versus monotherapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension: a meta-analysis. *Lancet Respir Med* 2016;4:291–305.
- 30. Channick RN, Sitbon O, Barst RJ, Manes A, Rubin LJ. Endothelin receptor antagonists in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2004;43:62S-67S.

- 31. Correale M, Ferraretti A, Monaco I, Grazioli D, Di Biase M, Brunetti ND. Endothelinreceptor antagonists in the management of pulmonary arterial hypertension: where do we stand? *Vasc Health Risk Manag* 2018;14:253–264.
- 32. McLaughlin VV, Sitbon O, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Black C, Galiè N, Rainisio M, Simonneau G, Rubin LJ. Survival with first-line bosentan in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. *Eur Respir J* 2005;25:244–249.
- 33. Marra AM, Benjamin N, Eichstaedt C, Salzano A, Arcopinto M, Gargani L, D Alto M, Argiento P, Falsetti L, Di Giosia P, Isidori AM, Ferrara F, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Grünig E. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;114:103–109.
- 34. Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Gladwin MT. The nitrate–nitrite–nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2008;7:156–167.
- 35. Tsihlis ND, Oustwani CS, Vavra AK, Jiang Q, Keefer LK, Kibbe MR. Nitric oxide inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and neointimal hyperplasia by increasing the ubiquitination and degradation of UbcH10. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 2011;60:89–97.
- 36. Chester AH, Yacoub MH, Moncada S. Nitric oxide and pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Glob Cardiol Sci Pract* 2017:.
- 37. Galiè N, Ghofrani HA, Torbicki A, Barst RJ, Rubin LJ, Badesch D, Fleming T, Parpia T, Burgess G, Branzi A, Grimminger F, Kurzyna M, Simonneau G, Sildenafil Use in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension (SUPER) Study Group. Sildenafil citrate therapy for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353:2148–2157.

- 38. Rubin LJ, Badesch DB, Fleming TR, Galiè N, Simonneau G, Ghofrani HA, Oakes M, Layton G, Serdarevic-Pehar M, McLaughlin VV, Barst RJ, SUPER-2 Study Group. Long-term treatment with sildenafil citrate in pulmonary arterial hypertension: the SUPER-2 study. *Chest* 2011;140:1274–1283.
- 39. Makowski CT, Rissmiller RW, Bullington WM. Riociguat: a novel new drug for treatment of pulmonary hypertension. *Pharmacotherapy* 2015;35:502–519.
- 40. Friedman R, Mears JG, Barst RJ. Continuous infusion of prostacyclin normalizes plasma markers of endothelial cell injury and platelet aggregation in primary pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation* 1997;96:2782–2784.
- 41. Waxman AB, Zamanian RT. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: New Insights Into the Optimal Role of Current and Emerging Prostacyclin Therapies. *Am J Cardiol* 2013;111:1A-16A.
- 42. Sitbon O, Noordegraaf AV. Epoprostenol and pulmonary arterial hypertension: 20 years of clinical experience. *Eur Respir Rev* 2017;26:.
- 43. Farber HW, Miller DP, Poms AD, Badesch DB, Frost AE, Rouzic EM-L, Romero AJ, Benton WW, Elliott CG, McGoon MD, Benza RL. Five-Year Outcomes of Patients Enrolled in the REVEAL Registry. *Chest* 2015;148:1043–1054.
- 44. Peacock AJ, Murphy NF, McMurray JJV, Caballero L, Stewart S. An epidemiological study of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Eur Respir J* 2007;30:104–109.
- 45. Thenappan T, Shah SJ, Rich S, Gomberg-Maitland M. A USA-based registry for pulmonary arterial hypertension: 1982-2006. *Eur Respir J* 2007;30:1103–1110.
- 46. Humbert M, Sitbon O, Chaouat A, Bertocchi M, Habib G, Gressin V, Yaici A, Weitzenblum E, Cordier J-F, Chabot F, Dromer C, Pison C, Reynaud-Gaubert M,

Haloun A, Laurent M, Hachulla E, Simonneau G. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in France: results from a national registry. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2006;173:1023–1030.

- 47. Escribano-Subias P, Blanco I, López-Meseguer M, Lopez-Guarch CJ, Roman A, Morales P, Castillo-Palma MJ, Segovia J, Gómez-Sanchez MA, Barberà JA, REHAP investigators. Survival in pulmonary hypertension in Spain: insights from the Spanish registry. *Eur Respir J* 2012;40:596–603.
- 48. McGoon MD, Miller DP. REVEAL: a contemporary US pulmonary arterial hypertension registry. *Eur Respir Rev Off J Eur Respir Soc* 2012;21:8–18.
- 49. Batton KA, Austin CO, Bruno KA, Burger CD, Shapiro BP, Fairweather D. Sex differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension: role of infection and autoimmunity in the pathogenesis of disease. *Biol Sex Differ* 2018;9:.
- 50. Benza RL, Miller DP, Gomberg-Maitland M, Frantz RP, Foreman AJ, Coffey CS, Frost A, Barst RJ, Badesch DB, Elliott CG, Liou TG, McGoon MD. Predicting survival in pulmonary arterial hypertension: insights from the Registry to Evaluate Early and Long-Term Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Disease Management (REVEAL). *Circulation* 2010;122:164–172.
- Umar S, Iorga A, Matori H, Nadadur RD, Li J, Maltese F, van der Laarse A, Eghbali
 M. Estrogen rescues preexisting severe pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;184:715–723.
- 52. Rabinovitch M, Gamble WJ, Miettinen OS, Reid L. Age and sex influence on pulmonary hypertension of chronic hypoxia and on recovery. *Am J Physiol* 1981;240:H62-72.

- 53. Farhat MY, Chen MF, Bhatti T, Iqbal A, Cathapermal S, Ramwell PW. Protection by oestradiol against the development of cardiovascular changes associated with monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 1993;110:719–723.
- 54. Yuan P, Wu W-H, Gao L, Zheng Z-Q, Liu D, Mei H-Y, Zhang Z-L, Jing Z-C. Oestradiol ameliorates monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension via NO, prostacyclin and endothelin-1 pathways. *Eur Respir J* 2013;41:1116–1125.
- 55. Frump AL, Goss KN, Vayl A, Albrecht M, Fisher A, Tursunova R, Fierst J, Whitson J, Cucci AR, Brown MB, Lahm T. Estradiol improves right ventricular function in rats with severe angioproliferative pulmonary hypertension: effects of endogenous and exogenous sex hormones. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015;308:L873-890.
- 56. Nadadur RD, Umar S, Wong G, Eghbali M, Iorga A, Matori H, Partow-Navid R, Eghbali M. Reverse right ventricular structural and extracellular matrix remodeling by estrogen in severe pulmonary hypertension. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md* 1985 2012;113:149–158.
- 57. Atkinson C, Stewart S, Upton PD, Machado R, Thomson JR, Trembath RC, Morrell NW. Primary pulmonary hypertension is associated with reduced pulmonary vascular expression of type II bone morphogenetic protein receptor. *Circulation* 2002;105:1672–1678.
- 58. Fessel JP, Chen X, Frump A, Gladson S, Blackwell T, Kang C, Johnson J, Loyd JE, Hemnes A, Austin E, West J. Interaction between bone morphogenetic protein receptor type 2 and estrogenic compounds in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Pulm Circ* 2013;3:564–577.

- 59. Hamada H, Kim MK, Iwakura A, Ii M, Thorne T, Qin G, Asai J, Tsutsumi Y, Sekiguchi H, Silver M, Wecker A, Bord E, Zhu Y, Kishore R, Losordo DW. Estrogen receptors alpha and beta mediate contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells to functional recovery after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2006;114:2261–2270.
- 60. Chen X, Austin ED, Talati M, Fessel JP, Farber-Eger EH, Brittain EL, Hemnes AR, Loyd JE, West J. Oestrogen inhibition reverses pulmonary arterial hypertension and associated metabolic defects. *Eur Respir J* 2017;50:.
- 61. Larkin EK, Newman JH, Austin ED, Hemnes AR, Wheeler L, Robbins IM, West JD, Phillips JA, Hamid R, Loyd JE. Longitudinal analysis casts doubt on the presence of genetic anticipation in heritable pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;186:892–896.
- 62. Austin ED, Cogan JD, West JD, Hedges LK, Hamid R, Dawson EP, Wheeler LA, Parl FF, Loyd JE, Phillips JA. Alterations in oestrogen metabolism: implications for higher penetrance of familial pulmonary arterial hypertension in females. *Eur Respir J* 2009;34:1093–1099.
- 63. Zhang Y-X, Wang L, Lu W-Z, Yuan P, Wu W-H, Zhou Y-P, Zhao Q-H, Zhang S-J, Li Y, Wu T, Jiang X, Jing Z-C. Association Between High FSH, Low Progesterone, and Idiopathic Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension in Women of Reproductive Age. *Am J Hypertens* 2020;33:99–105.
- 64. Hemnes AR, Maynard KB, Champion HC, Gleaves L, Penner N, West J, Newman JH. Testosterone negatively regulates right ventricular load stress responses in mice. *Pulm Circ* 2012;2:352–358.

- 65. D'Alonzo GE, Barst RJ, Ayres SM, Bergofsky EH, Brundage BH, Detre KM, Fishman AP, Goldring RM, Groves BM, Kernis JT. Survival in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Results from a national prospective registry. *Ann Intern Med* 1991;115:343–349.
- 66. Cunningham CM, Eghbali M. An Introduction to Epigenetics in Cardiovascular Development, Disease, and Sexualization. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2018;1065:31–47.
- 67. Brown CJ, Willard HF. The human X-inactivation centre is not required for maintenance of X-chromosome inactivation. *Nature* 1994;368:154–156.
- 68. Balaton BP, Cotton AM, Brown CJ. Derivation of consensus inactivation status for Xlinked genes from genome-wide studies. *Biol Sex Differ* 2015;6:35.
- 69. Burgoyne PS, Arnold AP. A primer on the use of mouse models for identifying direct sex chromosome effects that cause sex differences in non-gonadal tissues. *Biol Sex Differ* 2016;7:68.
- 70. Chen X, McClusky R, Chen J, Beaven SW, Tontonoz P, Arnold AP, Reue K. The number of x chromosomes causes sex differences in adiposity in mice. *PLoS Genet* 2012;8:e1002709.
- 71. Du S, Itoh N, Askarinam S, Hill H, Arnold AP, Voskuhl RR. XY sex chromosome complement, compared with XX, in the CNS confers greater neurodegeneration during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2014;111:2806–2811.
- 72. Li J, Chen X, McClusky R, Ruiz-Sundstrom M, Itoh Y, Umar S, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The number of X chromosomes influences protection from cardiac

ischaemia/reperfusion injury in mice: one X is better than two. *Cardiovasc Res* 2014;102:375–384.

- 73. Arnold AP, Reue K, Eghbali M, Vilain E, Chen X, Ghahramani N, Itoh Y, Li J, Link JC, Ngun T, Williams-Burris SM. The importance of having two X chromosomes. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2016;371:20150113.
- 74. Banka S, Lederer D, Benoit V, Jenkins E, Howard E, Bunstone S, Kerr B, McKee S, Lloyd I c., Shears D, Stewart H, White S m., Savarirayan R, Mancini G m. s., Beysen D, Cohn R d., Grisart B, Maystadt I, Donnai D. Novel KDM6A (UTX) mutations and a clinical and molecular review of the X-linked Kabuki syndrome (KS2). *Clin Genet* 2015;87:252–258.
- 75. Santos-Rebouças CB, Fintelman-Rodrigues N, Jensen LR, Kuss AW, Ribeiro MG, Campos M, Santos JM, Pimentel MMG. A novel nonsense mutation in KDM5C/JARID1C gene causing intellectual disability, short stature and speech delay. *Neurosci Lett* 2011;498:67–71.
- 76. Snijders Blok L, Madsen E, Juusola J, Gilissen C, Baralle D, Reijnders MRF, Venselaar H, Helsmoortel C, Cho MT, Hoischen A, Vissers LELM, Koemans TS, Wissink-Lindhout W, Eichler EE, Romano C, Van Esch H, Stumpel C, Vreeburg M, Smeets E, Oberndorff K, van Bon BWM, Shaw M, Gecz J, Haan E, Bienek M, Jensen C, Loeys BL, Van Dijck A, Innes AM, *et al.* Mutations in DDX3X Are a Common Cause of Unexplained Intellectual Disability with Gender-Specific Effects on Wnt Signaling. *Am J Hum Genet* 2015;97:343–352.

- 77. Xiao ZG, Shen J, Zhang L, Li LF, Li MX, Hu W, Li ZJ, Cho CH. The Roles of Histone Demethylase UTX and JMJD3 (KDM6B) In Cancers: Current Progress and Future Perspectives. *Curr Med Chem* 2016;
- 78. Yamauchi Y, Riel JM, Stoytcheva Z, Ward MA. Two Y Genes Can Replace the Entire Y Chromosome for Assisted Reproduction in the Mouse. *Science* 2014;343:69–72.
- 79. Guo X, Su B, Zhou Z, Sha J. Rapid evolution of mammalian X-linked testis microRNAs. *BMC Genomics* 2009;10:97.
- 80. Sharma S, Eghbali M. Influence of sex differences on microRNA gene regulation in disease. *Biol Sex Differ* 2014;5:3.
- Morgan CP, Bale TL. Sex differences in microRNA regulation of gene expression: no smoke, just miRs. *Biol Sex Differ* 2012;3:22.
- 82. Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Pyntikova T, Graves T, Fulton RS, Dugan S, Ding Y, Buhay CJ, Kremitzki C, Wang Q, Shen H, Holder M, Villasana D, Nazareth LV, Cree A, Courtney L, Veizer J, Kotkiewicz H, Cho T-J, Koutseva N, Rozen S, Muzny DM, Warren WC, Gibbs RA, Wilson RK, Page DC. Strict evolutionary conservation followed rapid gene loss on human and rhesus Y chromosomes. *Nature* 2012;483:82–86.
- 83. Umar S, Cunningham CM, Itoh Y, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Sarji S, Centala A, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197:952–955.
- 84. Charchar FJ, Bloomer LD, Barnes TA, Cowley MJ, Nelson CP, Wang Y, Denniff M, Debiec R, Christofidou P, Nankervis S, Dominiczak AF, Bani-Mustafa A, Balmforth AJ, Hall AS, Erdmann J, Cambien F, Deloukas P, Hengstenberg C, Packard C,

Schunkert H, Ouwehand WH, Ford I, Goodall AH, Jobling MA, Samani NJ, Tomaszewski M. Inheritance of coronary artery disease in men: an analysis of the role of the Y chromosome. *Lancet* 2012;379:915–922.

- 85. Bloomer LDS, Nelson CP, Eales J, Denniff M, Christofidou P, Debiec R, Moore J, Cardiogenics Consortium, Zukowska-Szczechowska E, Goodall AH, Thompson J, Samani NJ, Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M. Male-specific region of the Y chromosome and cardiovascular risk: phylogenetic analysis and gene expression studies. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2013;33:1722–1727.
- 86. Moore KJ, Sheedy FJ, Fisher EA. Macrophages in atherosclerosis: a dynamic balance. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2013;13:709–721.

Chapter 2: The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension

Adapted with permission of the American Thoracic Society.

Copyright © 2021 American Thoracic Society. All rights reserved.

Umar S, Cunningham CM, Itoh Y, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Sarji S, Centala A, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018 Apr 1;197(7):952-955.

The American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine is an official journal of the American Thoracic Society.

Readers are encouraged to read the entire article for the correct context at *here*.

The authors, editors, and The American Thoracic Society are not responsible for errors or omissions in adaptations.

Abstract

Rationale

The incidence of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is markedly higher in female patients than in males. Research investigating the role of sex hormones in PAH has yielded paradoxical results indicating that other sex biasing factors could be involved.

Objectives

We investigated the role of sex chromosomes, independent of gonadal hormones, in the development of hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension.

Methods

We used two powerful mouse models to study the role of sex chromosomes in susceptibility to pulmonary hypertension. The Four Core Genotypes model allowed us to compare the effect of chromosome complement (XX or XY). The XY* model allowed us to determine if differences are due to the presence of a Y chromosome or the number of X chromosomes. Mice were gonadectomized to remove gonadal hormones and placed in hypoxia (10% oxygen) for three weeks. Hemodynamic parameters were measured terminally via direct cardiac catheterization. Pulmonary vascular remodeling and fibrosis were quantified.

Measurements and Main Results

Hypoxic XY mice, irrespective of gonadal sex, developed less severe pulmonary hypertension than XX mice indicated by lower right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP) and less vascular remodeling and fibrosis than XX mice. Protection of XY mice was due

to the presence of a Y chromosome but not the number of X chromosomes. Analysis of online microarray data revealed three Y chromosome genes are expressed in both mouse and human heart and lung tissue.

Conclusions

The Y chromosome is protective against development of hypoxia-induced PH in mice in the absence of gonadal hormones.

Introduction

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a chronic pulmonary vascular disease characterized by elevated pulmonary arterial pressure and vascular remodeling leading to right ventricular failure (1, 2). Patients with PAH exhibit narrowing of the main pulmonary artery with constriction and stiffening of the distal pulmonary arterioles primarily due to aberrant smooth muscle cell proliferation and muscularization, vascular endothelial cell dysfunction, and intimal and adventitial fibrosis (1–3). PAH in general, and its idiopathic form in particular, has long been considered to be a disease of young women (4, 5) with female sex being a risk factor (6). Surprisingly, being female was found to protect against the development of PH in various animal models (7–9). Because this effect has largely been attributed to the protective effects of estradiol (7, 10–13), the phenomenon is known as the 'estrogen paradox' of PH (14, 15). One resolution of the paradox is that sex hormones alone are not sufficient to explain the marked sex bias observed in PAH in humans.

Sex differences between males and females are not solely attributed to the effects of gonadal hormones. Sex chromosomes are inherently different between males and females from the time of zygote formation. This determination of sex by chromosome complement precedes the formation of the gonads. Together, sex chromosomes and sex hormones act directly on tissues to produce sex differences (14, 16, 17). Mouse studies in which chromosome complement, the number and type of sex chromosomes, is independent of gonadal sex indicate that sex chromosome complement influences sex bias in autoimmune disease, metabolic dysfunction, neurodegeneration, and ischemia/reperfusion injury in the heart (18–21). Therefore, genes encoded on the sex

chromosomes have already been shown to have strong effects contributing to sex differences in phenotype including disease susceptibility and progression.

In the current study, we investigate for the first time the role of sex chromosomes, in the absence of gonadal hormones, in the development of hypoxia-induced PH using the powerful FCG and XY* mouse models. In addition, we identify Y chromosome genes expressed the in male heart and lung tissue and compare Y chromosome gene expression levels between male PAH patients versus healthy control males.

Materials and methods

Mouse models

We used two powerful mouse models, the four core genotypes (FCG) and XY* models, to study the role of sex chromosomes in the susceptibility to PH (22) (**Figure 1**). The FCG model produces mice in which sex chromosome complement (XX vs. XY) is independent of gonadal sex (female vs. male). This model allows us to assess the effect of sex chromosomes independent of gonadal sex (**Figure 1A**).

The XY* model consists of female and male mice with one or two X chromosomes (females: XO or XX, males: XY or XXY) (**Figure 1B**). This model allows us to determine if the XX-XY difference found in the FCG model is a result of i) the presence or absence of a Y chromosome (comparing mice with or without a Y chromosome),

Α

FCG Mice

Parents Progeny genotype Gonad abbrev	X XY- F XYF XYF	XX F XXF & XY & XY	M XY-(Sry ⁺) M XYM M Diffe beca of se chro	y+) XX(Sry+) M XXM erence ause ex mosomes
в	-	XY*	Mice	
Parents	Х	x ● ⊤	- XY*	
Progeny	<u> </u>			
genotype	ХХ	XY ^{∗X}	XY*	$\mathbf{X}\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{Y}^{\star}}$
abbrev	ХХ	хо	XY	XXY
X chrom	2	1	1	2
Y chrom	0	0	1	1
Gonad	F	F	М	Μ
	xx Q+ xo	& X C & X	Diffe	erence ause of X omosomes

Figure 1. Overview of the FCG and XY* mouse models. A. The FCG model produces mice in which gonadal sex is independent of sex chromosomes. The FCG model allows us to compare gonadal female mice with XX and XY chromosomes and gonadal male mice with XX and XY chromosomes. B. The XY* model produces mice with one or two X chromosomes (female XO and XX, male XY and XXY). This model allows us to determine if the XX-XY difference found in the FCG model is caused by the presence or absence of the Y chromosome or the number of X chromosomes.

or ii) the number of X chromosomes (comparing mice with one or two X chromosomes, **Figure 1B**).

Gonadectomy surgery and hypoxia protocol

All protocols described in the methods received institutional review and committee approval. This investigation conformed to the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Pub. No. 85-23, Revised 1996).

Mice were gonadectomized (GDX) at day 75 after birth to remove potential group differences in the levels of gonadal hormones during testing. Thirty days after GDX, mice were placed in a hypoxia chamber (10% oxygen) for three weeks (n=4-6 per group for FCG mice and n=5 per group for XY* mice). For the FCG mouse model, some FCG mice (n=5 per group) were kept under normoxic conditions for 3 weeks.

Cardiopulmonary hemodynamic monitoring

Direct cardiac catheterization was performed terminally to measure RV systolic pressure (RVSP) by inserting a catheter into the RV immediately prior to sacrifice. The mice were anesthetized with a mixture of Ketamine (80 mg/kg) and Xylazine (8 mg/kg) administered *via* intraperitoneal injection. The animals were placed on a controlled warming pad to keep the body temperature constant at 37°C. After a tracheostomy was performed, a cannula was inserted, and the animals were mechanically ventilated using a rodent ventilator (Harvard Apparatus, Canada). Following ventilation, mice were placed under a stereomicroscope (Zeiss, Hamburg, Germany), and a pressure-conductance catheter (model 1.4F Millar SPR-671) was introduced via the apex into the RV and positioned towards the pulmonary valve. The catheter was connected to a pressure transducer

(Power Lab, ADInstruments) and RV pressures were recorded digitally. After recording the RVSP, lungs were removed rapidly under deep anesthesia for preservation of protein integrity.

Histopathologic analysis, immunohistochemistry, and imaging

Lungs were weighed, perfused and/or snap frozen for further histological and molecular investigation. Briefly, whole lungs were isolated and inflated manually using a syringe by perfusing 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄ and 23 mM NaH₂PO₄ (pH 7.4) through the trachea. Isolated perfused lungs were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde on ice overnight. Following fixation, the tissue was immersed in ice-cold 20% sucrose overnight and embedded using optimum cutting temperature compound. Five µm lung tissue sections were obtained with a cryostat (Microm HM525, Thermo Scientific). Standard Masson Trichrome (Sigma) staining was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol, and images were acquired with a confocal microscope (Nikon). Stitched images of entire lung sections were obtained using 10x objective on a high-resolution confocal microscope (Nikon). Pulmonary vascular remodeling was assessed by quantifying percent occlusion of peripheral lung arterioles (<100 um diameter) from a total of 392 arterioles, n=4-6 mice per group and ~20 arterioles per mouse. Pulmonary fibrosis was assessed from the stitched images as percent fibrosis using a grid (n=4-6 mice per group).

Immunofluorescence staining

Lung sections (5µm) were fixed in acetone for 15 minutes at –20°C. The sections were then washed with PBS+0.1% Triton three times and incubated with 10% normal goat serum in PBS+0.1% Triton for 30 minutes to block the background. Following blocking,

the sections were incubated with primary antibodies against alpha-smooth muscle actin and von Willebrand Factor in PBS+0.1% Triton+1% normal goat serum at 4°C overnight. Sections were then washed with PBS+0.1% Triton three times, incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies in PBS+0.1% Triton+1% normal goat serum at room temperature for one hour. After washing the secondary antibodies with PBS+0.1% Triton three times, the sections were incubated with DAPI and then mounted for imaging using Prolong gold (Molecular Probes). Images were acquired with a confocal microscope (Nikon).

Analysis of online gene expression databases

For analysis of gene expression from online RNA-Seq data (GSE29278: male mouse heart and lung, GSE49417: male human heart and lung), we measured the expression levels by calculating RPKM (Reads Per Kilobase of transcript per Million mapped reads). R package "QuasR" was used for the read alignment to the human (hg19) or mouse (mm10) genome, followed by the counting of reads at the gene level and calculation of RPKM(23). In **Table 1**, we report protein-coding genes, pseudogenes and non-coding RNAs with RPKM >1. For the microarray analysis of gene expression in **Table 2** (GSE15197: human lung, control and PAH), we quantile normalized gene expression levels and compared the expression of Y chromosome genes in PAH and Ctrl lungs using a one-way ANOVA followed by False Discovery Rate (FDR) analysis (23).

<u>Reagents</u>

Primary antibodies used include: anti-smooth muscle actin (Sigma (A2547), 1:250 dilution) and anti-von Willebrand Factor (Abcam (ab6994), 1:200 dilution). Secondary

antibodies used include: Goat anti-Mouse IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 488 (ThermoFisher (A-11001), 1:1000 dilution and Goat anti-Rabbit IgG (H+L), Alexa Fluor 594 (ThermoFisher (A-11012), 1:1000).

Statistical analysis

Two-way ANOVAs were used to compare experimental groups. For comparison of FCG mice, the factors were sex chromosome complement (XX vs. XY), and gonadal sex (male vs. female). For studies of XY* mice, the factors were numbers of X Chromosomes (one vs. two) and presence of Y Chromosome (present vs. absent, same as gonadal sex). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Values were expressed as Mean± SEM.

Results

XY mice, irrespective of their gonadal sex, develop less severe PH than XX mice.

We examined the role of sex chromosome complement on susceptibility to PH development in the absence of sex hormones in GDX FCG mice. Under normoxic conditions, the RV pressure was not significantly different between XX vs XY mice regardless of their gonads (male or female) (**Figure 2**). When mice were subjected to hypoxic insult for three weeks, we found male and female XY mice developed less severe PH than male and female XX mice. RV pressure was significantly lower in XY mice than XX mice (RVSP: 43.31 ± 5.72 mmHg in XX females and 46.51 ± 4.52 in XX males *vs*. 33.17 ± 2.36 in XY females and 40.4 ± 2.31 in XY males; *p*<0.05, n=4-6 per group, **Figure 2**).



Figure 2. Gonadectomized male and female XY mice develop less severe PH compared to male and female XX mice. Bar graphs showing RV systolic pressure (RVSP) in normoxia or hypoxia for GDX FCG mice. Female XX and XY mice (white bars) are plotted against male (black bars) XX and XY mice. *p<0.05; for normoxia experiment n=5 mice/group; for hypoxia experiment XX females n=4; XX males n=6; XY females n=5; XY males n=5.

Male and female XY mice have less pulmonary vascular remodeling compared to male and female XX mice.

Consistent with the lower RV pressures found in XY mice, PH protection in XY mice was also accompanied by less severe pulmonary vascular remodeling as measured by percent occlusion of pulmonary arterioles (XY female: 23.84±3.14; XY male: 22.47±3.15; XX female: 58.8±7.95; XX male: 44.56±11.68) (**Figure 3**). These results further indicate that GDX male and female mice with XY chromosome complement develop less severe PH compared to the male and female mice with XX chromosome complement.

PH protection in XY mice is due to the presence of a Y chromosome rather than the number of X chromosomes.

To explore whether the less severe PH in XY mice compared to XX mice is due to the number of X chromosomes or the presence of the Y chromosome, we used mice from the XY* mouse model (XO, XX, XY XXY) and compared PH severity. RV pressures from XY (33.49±0.60 mm Hg) and XXY (32.03±2.17 mm Hg) mice were significantly lower than RV pressures measured in XO (38.72±2.44 mm Hg) and XX mice (41.56±3.84 mm Hg) (**Figure 4**). We did not observe any significant change in RV pressure between mice with one or two X chromosomes (XO and XX compared to XY and XXY). These results indicate that the lower susceptibility of XY mice to hypoxic insult is due to the presence of the Y chromosome rather than the number of X chromosomes.



Figure 3. Hypoxic gonadectomized male and female XX mice develop more severe pulmonary vascular remodeling compared to male and female XY mice. A. Representative Masson trichrome (upper panel) and immunofluorescence staining (lower panel) for a-smooth muscle actin (green), von Willebrand Factor (red) and DAPI (blue) of lung sections from gonadectomized FCG mice kept in hypoxia for 3 weeks showing thicker pulmonary arterioles in XX mice compared to XY mice regardless of male (XXM, XYM) or female (XXF, XYF) gonads. B. Quantification of percent occlusion of the arterioles in the lung sections from XX and XY male and female mice. XX females n=4, XX males n=6, XY females n=5, XY males n=5, *p<0.05.



Figure 4. Hypoxic gonadectomized mice with a Y chromosome develop less severe PH compared to mice without a Y chromosome. Bar graphs showing RV systolic pressure (RVSP, mmHg) in hypoxic gonadectomized XY* mice. Female XX and XO mice (orange bars) are plotted against male XXY and XY mice (blue bars). *p<0.05, n=5 mice/group.

Y chromosome genes are expressed in mouse and human lung and heart tissues.

We infer from the above results that genes encoded by the Y chromosome that are expressed in the lung or heart tissues confer protection against PH. To discover which Y chromosome genes are expressed in the lungs and heart, we analyzed several datasets in the GEO databases. In **Table 1**, we summarize Y chromosome genes showing at least 1 RPKM in male tissues. In mice, four Y chromosome protein-coding genes are expressed in the lungs and heart: *Ddx3y*, *Eif2s3y*, *Kdm5d* and *Uty*. These represent the top candidates to explain the protective effect of the Y chromosome. The same genes are also expressed in human heart and lung with the exception of *Eif2s3y*, which is not conserved in humans. In **Table 2**, we analyzed a GEO microarray dataset and compared the expression of Y chromosome genes in the lungs of male PAH patients versus healthy male controls. We found that *KDM5D* and *UTY* expression is downregulated in PAH lungs (p<0.05) whereas *DDX3Y* is not significantly altered.

Mouse							
Lung	RPKM	Heart	RPKM				
Ddx3y	9.8	Ddx3y	7.5				
Eif2s3y	9.6	Eif2s3y	6.5				
Kdm5d	4.6	Kdm5d	2.0				
Uty	2.4	Uty	1.4				

Human						
Lung	RPKM	Heart	RPKM			
CD24P4*	94.4	PSMA6P1*	33.8			
PSMA6P1*	61.2	EIF1AY	11.8			
EIF4A1P2*	38.3	DDX3Y	10.1			
DDX3Y	32.4	EIF4A1P2*	6.8			
RPS4Y1	6.0	VDAC1P6*	5.5			
RNU6-941P*	4.7	USP9Y	4.0			
EIF1AY	4.0	RPS4Y1	3.5			
RPL26P37*	3.3	ZFY	3.3			
KDM5D	3.2	KDM5D	2.2			
USP9Y	2.8	<i>TTTY14**</i>	1.5			
TXLNGY*	2.6	TXLNGY*	1.2			
ZFY	2.6	UTY	1.0			
PRKY*	2.3					
TTTY15**	2.0					
UTY	1.8					
VDAC1P6*	1.5					
KRT18P10*	1.2					

Table 1. Y chromosome genes expressed in lung and heart tissues. RNA-seq analysis of Y chromosome gene expression (GSE29278: mouse heart and lung, GSE49417: human heart and lung). RPKM (Reads Per Kilobase of transcript per Million mapped reads) values were calculated using R package "QuasR." Only genes with RPKM > 1 are listed. Genes found in both mouse and human tissues are bolded. *pseudogene, **ncRNA.

Human Lung						
Gene	p-Value	FDR	PAH/Ctrl			
KDM5D	0.00001	0.04	0.52			
USP9Y	0.001	0.11	0.13			
TXLNGY*	0.002	0.13	0.16			
ZFY	0.005	0.14	0.64			
UTY	0.018	0.19	0.40			
EIF1AY	0.110	0.35	0.55			
DDX3Y	0.151	0.40	0.70			
RPS4Y1	0.779	0.89	1.07			

Table 2. Change in Y chromosome gene expression between male healthy and PAH lung tissue. Microarray analysis showing the change in Y chromosome gene expression between PAH lungs and control (Ctrl) lungs (GSE15197: human lungs, PAH and Ctrl). We quantile normalized gene expression levels and compared PAH and Ctrl expression using a one-way ANOVA followed by False Discovery Rate (FDR) analysis (24). Only genes with RPKM > 1 in lung tissue via RNAseq analysis from Table 1 are listed. Genes found in both mouse and human tissues are bolded. *pseudogene, **ncRNA.
Discussion

In this study, using two informative mouse models that elucidate sex chromosome differences in disease, we investigated for the first time the effect of sex chromosomes in hypoxia-induced PH. In FCG mice, we found that GDX male and female mice with XY chromosomes developed less severe hypoxia-induced PH and exhibited reduced vascular remodeling and pulmonary fibrosis than male and female mice with XX chromosomes. Using XY* mice, we found that the lower susceptibility of XY mice to hypoxic insult is not due to the number of X chromosomes, but is instead due to the presence of a Y chromosome. We found only four protein-coding genes are expressed in male mouse heart and lung tissue (**Table 1**) (25). These four genes are prime candidates to explain the protective effect of the Y chromosome in our experiments. Three of these Y chromosome encoded genes are conserved in humans and may contribute to the sex differences found in PAH (26). The protective effect of the Y chromosome helps explain why male sex is the single best deterrent for developing PAH.

There are complex sex differences in PH susceptibility and prognosis which has led to two important paradoxical findings (4, 14, 15): **i)** higher incidence of PAH in women (up to 4:1 ratio in some forms of PAH) whereas wild type female rodents are protected against some forms of experimental PH by estrogens; and **ii)** although female patients are more susceptible to PAH than men, they respond better to currently available therapies and have increased survival compared to men (27). Taken together, these data indicate that a single sex-biasing factor is not sufficient to explain the complex sex differences in PAH. This study adds dimension to the current literature by exploring the influence of sex chromosomes on the development of PH. Our findings indicate that the Y chromosome,

in the absence of sex hormones, is a protective factor against hypoxia-induced PH in mice.

The FCG and XY^{*} mouse models, which allow investigators to highlight sex differences in disease driven by both the type and number of sex chromosomes (22) have uncovered effects of sex chromosomes on various pathologies including autoimmune disease, metabolic dysfunction, neurodegeneration and, in our lab, ischemic heart disease (18-21). The findings from the aforementioned studies indicate that the presence of two X chromosomes can increase susceptibility to various diseases (16). Since females have two X chromosomes, compared to one in males, X chromosome genes that escape inactivation result in increased expression in females. These X-escapee genes, which are expressed higher in females, may explain the harmful effects of X chromosome dosage in female tissues (18–21). Interestingly, none of the preceding studies found a significant effect, either protective or harmful, due to the presence of a Y chromosome. Many X genes that escape inactivation are similar to a paralogous "partner" gene encoded by the Y chromosome, which evolved from a common autosomal orthologue. Although the X and Y gene pairs may retain common functions, in some cases the Y chromosome paralogue gene has evolved novel functions due to different evolutionary pressure and a high rate of mutation (26, 28, 29). These Y genes are therefore interesting candidates to explain the protective effect of the Y chromosome reported here. Four of these Y chromosome genes—Ddx3y, Kdm5d, Uty and Eif2x3y— are expressed in the heart and lung tissue in males (Table 1) (25). Although information is limited, a growing body of evidence suggests that these protein-coding candidate genes have potential to impact fundamental cellular processes affecting proliferation, apoptosis, inflammation, and

epigenetic regulation (26, 30). Dysregulation of proliferation, apoptosis, and inflammation are hallmarks of PAH pathogenesis, and epigenetic regulation has recently emerged as a promising direction for PAH research (2, 31–33).

KDM5D, a histone demethylase, modulates gene expression by removing methyl groups from the trimethylation mark on histone 3 lysine 4 (H3K4me3) which generally represses the transcription of specific genes that may be implicated in PAH (34, 35). As an epigenetic modifier, it has potential to elicit widespread changes in gene expression and has recently been found to influence the development and metastasis of prostate cancer through regulation of androgen receptor synthesis and signaling (36, 37).

UTY is a paralog of the more characterized X chromosome gene UTX (KDM6A)—a histone demethylase that activates expression by removing methyl groups from H3K27me3 and is required for proper cardiac development. UTY retains some overlapping functions with UTX since it was shown that *Uty* expression is sufficient to prevent improper cardiac development and reduce mid-gestation lethality resulting from loss of *Utx*. Interestingly, UTY appears to lack histone demethylase activity, so its mechanism of action overlaps incompletely with the effect of UTX (29, 38). Mutations in both *Uty* and *Utx* have been implicated in the development of various cancers, illuminating their role as powerful regulators of disease (39–41). Furthermore, expression of UTY in macrophages has been linked atherosclerosis risk in men (42).

Ddx3y encodes an RNA helicase involved in ribosome synthesis and metabolism that was recently linked to the development of pulmonary disease. Using protein-protein interactive network analysis, Yang *et al.* determined that DDX3Y is not only upregulated

in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, but also acts as a regulatory hub gene in the network (43).

EIF2S3Y, a translation initiation factor, has been shown to be dramatically upregulated in parallel with regulation of apoptosis in endothelial cells (44). Endothelial cell dysfunction within the walls of pulmonary vasculature is symptomatic of PH and is the target of many therapies currently used for PH in patients (45).

Our study demonstrates for the first time the protective effect of the Y chromosome in the development of PH and represents an important paradigm shift in the approach towards understanding the marked sex differences in PH. In attempts to uncover the molecular mechanism by which the Y chromosome confers protection, further investigation into the four Y chromosome candidate genes—*Ddx3y*, *Kdm5d*, *Uty*, and *Eif2x3y*—is needed.

Analysis of online GEO datasets indicates that three of the identified Y chromosome candidate genes, *KDM5D*, *UTY* and *DDX3Y*, are also expressed in human lung and heart tissue (**Table 1**). If one or more of these genes is responsible for the protection against PH in mice, it could have exciting implications for human PAH and give rise to novel therapeutic strategies. Notably, analysis of online human PAH and control lung microarray datasets indicates that *KDM5D* and *UTY* expression is significantly downregulated in PAH (**Table 2**). This finding further highlights the potential role of Y chromosome genes, namely KDM5D and UTY, in PAH pathogenesis and protection.

Additionally, this study identifies the effects of sex chromosomes in the absence of sex hormones; however, future studies are needed to examine the complex relationship between PH development and sex chromosomes within the influential hormonal milieu.

Subsequent studies investigating these genes may uncover a much-needed novel strategy for the treatment of PAH in patients.

References

- Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2372–2379.
- Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Clin Invest 2012;122:4306–4313.
- Humbert M, Guignabert C, Bonnet S, Dorfmüller P, Klinger JR, Nicolls MR, Olschewski AJ, Pullamsetti SS, Schermuly RT, Stenmark KR, Rabinovitch M. Pathology and pathobiology of pulmonary hypertension: state of the art and research perspectives. *Eur Respir J* 2019;53:.
- Badesch DB, Raskob GE, Elliott CG, Krichman AM, Farber HW, Frost AE, Barst RJ, Benza RL, Liou TG, Turner M, Giles S, Feldkircher K, Miller DP, McGoon MD. Pulmonary arterial hypertension: baseline characteristics from the REVEAL Registry. *Chest* 2010;137:376–387.
- Rich S, Dantzker DR, Ayres SM, Bergofsky EH, Brundage BH, Detre KM, Fishman AP, Goldring RM, Groves BM, Koerner SK. Primary pulmonary hypertension. A national prospective study. *Ann Intern Med* 1987;107:216–223.
- Foderaro A, Ventetuolo CE. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and the Sex Hormone Paradox. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 2016;18:84.
- Lahm T, Albrecht M, Fisher AJ, Selej M, Patel NG, Brown JA, Justice MJ, Brown MB, Van Demark M, Trulock KM, Dieudonne D, Reddy JG, Presson RG, Petrache I. 17β-Estradiol attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension via estrogen receptormediated effects. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;185:965–980.

- Nadadur RD, Umar S, Wong G, Eghbali M, Iorga A, Matori H, Partow-Navid R, Eghbali M. Reverse right ventricular structural and extracellular matrix remodeling by estrogen in severe pulmonary hypertension. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md* 1985 2012;113:149–158.
- Rabinovitch M, Gamble WJ, Miettinen OS, Reid L. Age and sex influence on pulmonary hypertension of chronic hypoxia and on recovery. *Am J Physiol* 1981;240:H62-72.
- 10. Tofovic SP, Salah EM, Mady HH, Jackson EK, Melhem MF. Estradiol metabolites attenuate monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension in rats. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 2005;46:430–437.
- Tofovic SP, Zhang X, Jackson EK, Dacic S, Petrusevska G. 2-Methoxyestradiol mediates the protective effects of estradiol in monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Vascul Pharmacol* 2006;45:358–367.
- 12. Umar S, Iorga A, Matori H, Nadadur RD, Li J, Maltese F, van der Laarse A, Eghbali
 M. Estrogen rescues preexisting severe pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;184:715–723.
- 13. Xu D-Q, Luo Y, Liu Y, Wang J, Zhang B, Xu M, Wang Y-X, Dong H-Y, Dong M-Q, Zhao P-T, Niu W, Liu M-L, Gao Y-Q, Li Z-C. Beta-estradiol attenuates hypoxic pulmonary hypertension by stabilizing the expression of p27kip1 in rats. *Respir Res* 2010;11:182.
- Umar S, Rabinovitch M, Eghbali M. Estrogen paradox in pulmonary hypertension: current controversies and future perspectives. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;186:125–131.

- 15. Lahm T, Tuder RM, Petrache I. Progress in solving the sex hormone paradox in pulmonary hypertension. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2014;307:L7-26.
- 16. Arnold AP, Reue K, Eghbali M, Vilain E, Chen X, Ghahramani N, Itoh Y, Li J, Link JC, Ngun T, Williams-Burris SM. The importance of having two X chromosomes. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* 2016;371:20150113.
- 17. Arnold AP. A general theory of sexual differentiation. *J Neurosci Res* 2017;95:291–300.
- 18. Du S, Itoh N, Askarinam S, Hill H, Arnold AP, Voskuhl RR. XY sex chromosome complement, compared with XX, in the CNS confers greater neurodegeneration during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2014;111:2806–2811.
- Chen X, McClusky R, Chen J, Beaven SW, Tontonoz P, Arnold AP, Reue K. The number of x chromosomes causes sex differences in adiposity in mice. *PLoS Genet* 2012;8:e1002709.
- 20. Smith-Bouvier DL, Divekar AA, Sasidhar M, Du S, Tiwari-Woodruff SK, King JK, Arnold AP, Singh RR, Voskuhl RR. A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. *J Exp Med* 2008;205:1099–1108.
- Li J, Chen X, McClusky R, Ruiz-Sundstrom M, Itoh Y, Umar S, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The number of X chromosomes influences protection from cardiac ischaemia/reperfusion injury in mice: one X is better than two. *Cardiovasc Res* 2014;102:375–384.

- 22. Burgoyne PS, Arnold AP. A primer on the use of mouse models for identifying direct sex chromosome effects that cause sex differences in non-gonadal tissues. *Biol Sex Differ* 2016;7:68.
- 23. Gaidatzis D, Lerch A, Hahne F, Stadler MB. QuasR: quantification and annotation of short reads in R. *Bioinforma Oxf Engl* 2015;31:1130–1132.
- 24. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *J R Stat Soc Ser B Methodol* 1995;57:289– 300.
- 25. Soh YQS, Alföldi J, Pyntikova T, Brown LG, Graves T, Minx PJ, Fulton RS, Kremitzki C, Koutseva N, Mueller JL, Rozen S, Hughes JF, Owens E, Womack JE, Murphy WJ, Cao Q, de Jong P, Warren WC, Wilson RK, Skaletsky H, Page DC. Sequencing the mouse Y chromosome reveals convergent gene acquisition and amplification on both sex chromosomes. *Cell* 2014;159:800–813.
- 26. Bellott DW, Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Pyntikova T, Cho T-J, Koutseva N, Zaghlul S, Graves T, Rock S, Kremitzki C, Fulton RS, Dugan S, Ding Y, Morton D, Khan Z, Lewis L, Buhay C, Wang Q, Watt J, Holder M, Lee S, Nazareth L, Alföldi J, Rozen S, Muzny DM, Warren WC, Gibbs RA, Wilson RK, *et al.* Mammalian Y chromosomes retain widely expressed dosage-sensitive regulators. *Nature* 2014;508:494–499.
- 27. Marra AM, Benjamin N, Eichstaedt C, Salzano A, Arcopinto M, Gargani L, D Alto M, Argiento P, Falsetti L, Di Giosia P, Isidori AM, Ferrara F, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Grünig E. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;114:103–109.

- Cortez D, Marin R, Toledo-Flores D, Froidevaux L, Liechti A, Waters PD, Grützner F, Kaessmann H. Origins and functional evolution of Y chromosomes across mammals. *Nature* 2014;508:488–493.
- 29. Shpargel KB, Sengoku T, Yokoyama S, Magnuson T. UTX and UTY demonstrate histone demethylase-independent function in mouse embryonic development. *PLoS Genet* 2012;8:e1002964.
- 30. Maan AA, Eales J, Akbarov A, Rowland J, Xu X, Jobling MA, Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M. The Y chromosome: a blueprint for men's health? *Eur J Hum Genet* 2017;25:1181–1188.
- 31. Huston JH, Ryan JJ. The emerging role of epigenetics in pulmonary arterial hypertension: an important avenue for clinical trials (2015 Grover Conference Series). *Pulm Circ* 2016;6:274–284.
- 32. Meloche J, Potus F, Vaillancourt M, Bourgeois A, Johnson I, Deschamps L, Chabot S, Ruffenach G, Henry S, Breuils-Bonnet S, Tremblay È, Nadeau V, Lambert C, Paradis R, Provencher S, Bonnet S. Bromodomain-Containing Protein 4: The Epigenetic Origin of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circ Res* 2015;117:525–535.
- 33. Soubrier F, Chung WK, Machado R, Grünig E, Aldred M, Geraci M, Loyd JE, Elliott CG, Trembath RC, Newman JH, Humbert M. Genetics and Genomics of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2013;62:D13–D21.
- 34. Lee MG, Norman J, Shilatifard A, Shiekhattar R. Physical and functional association of a trimethyl H3K4 demethylase and Ring6a/MBLR, a polycomb-like protein. *Cell* 2007;128:877–887.

- 35. Wynder C, Stalker L, Doughty ML. Role of H3K4 demethylases in complex neurodevelopmental diseases. *Epigenomics* 2010;2:407–418.
- 36. Li N, Dhar SS, Chen T-Y, Kan P-Y, Wei Y, Kim J-H, Chan C-H, Lin H-K, Hung M-C, Lee MG. JARID1D Is a Suppressor and Prognostic Marker of Prostate Cancer Invasion and Metastasis. *Cancer Res* 2016;76:831–843.
- 37. Komura K, Jeong SH, Hinohara K, Qu F, Wang X, Hiraki M, Azuma H, Lee G-SM, Kantoff PW, Sweeney CJ. Resistance to docetaxel in prostate cancer is associated with androgen receptor activation and loss of KDM5D expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2016;113:6259–6264.
- 38. Walport LJ, Hopkinson RJ, Vollmar M, Madden SK, Gileadi C, Oppermann U, Schofield CJ, Johansson C. Human UTY(KDM6C) is a male-specific Nε-methyl lysyl demethylase. J Biol Chem 2014;289:18302–18313.
- 39. Aubry C, Spyckerelle Y, Bon N, Deschamps JP. [Public knowledge and attitude towards colorectal cancer]. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 1989;13:596–601.
- 40. Herz H-M. Enhancer deregulation in cancer and other diseases. *BioEssays News Rev Mol Cell Dev Biol* 2016;38:1003–1015.
- 41. Xiao ZG, Shen J, Zhang L, Li LF, Li MX, Hu W, Li ZJ, Cho CH. The Roles of Histone Demethylase UTX and JMJD3 (KDM6B) In Cancers: Current Progress and Future Perspectives. *Curr Med Chem* 2016;
- 42. Bloomer LDS, Nelson CP, Eales J, Denniff M, Christofidou P, Debiec R, Moore J, Cardiogenics Consortium, Zukowska-Szczechowska E, Goodall AH, Thompson J, Samani NJ, Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M. Male-specific region of the Y

chromosome and cardiovascular risk: phylogenetic analysis and gene expression studies. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2013;33:1722–1727.

- 43. Yuan YP, Shi YH, Gu WC. Analysis of protein-protein interaction network in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Genet Mol Res GMR* 2014;13:8862–8869.
- 44. Kang B-Y, Hu C, Ryu S, Khan JA, Biancolella M, Prayaga S, Seung K-B, Novelli G, Mehta P, Mehta JL. Genomics of cardiac remodeling in angiotensin II-treated wildtype and LOX-1-deficient mice. *Physiol Genomics* 2010;42:42–54.
- 45. Higenbottam TW, Laude EA. Endothelial dysfunction providing the basis for the treatment of pulmonary hypertension: Giles F. Filley lecture. *Chest* 1998;114:72S-79S.

Chapter 3: Y-Chromosome gene, *Uty*, protects against pulmonary hypertension by reducing proinflammatory chemokines

Abstract

<u>Rationale</u>: Idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a terminal pulmonary vascular disease characterized by increased pressure, right ventricular failure and death. PAH exhibits a striking sex bias and is up to 4x more prevalent in females. Understanding the molecular basis behind this sex difference is paramount to elucidating PAH pathophysiology and uncovering novel therapies.

<u>Objectives:</u> We previously discovered the Y-Chromosome is protective against hypoxiainduced PH which explains the reduced PAH prevalence in males. Here, we identify the gene responsible for Y-Chromosome protection, investigate key downstream autosomal genes, and demonstrate a novel therapy.

<u>Methods, Measurements and Main Results:</u> To test the effect of Y-Chromosome genes on PH development, we knocked-down each Y-Chromosome gene expressed in the lung via intratracheal instillation of siRNA in gonadectomized male mice exposed to hypoxia. Knockdown of Y-Chromosome gene *Uty* resulted in more severe PH measured by increased right ventricle pressure and decreased pulmonary artery acceleration time. RNAsequencing revealed an increase in proinflammatory chemokines *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* as a result of *Uty* knockdown. We found *CXCL9 and CXCL10* significantly upregulated in human PAH lungs, with more robust upregulation in PAH females. Treatment of human pulmonary artery endothelial cells with CXCL9 and CXCL10 triggered apoptosis. Inhibition of CXCL9 and CXCL10 activity in female PH rats significantly reduced PH severity.

<u>Conclusions</u>: ChrY gene, Uty, is protective against PH. Reduction of Uty expression results in increased expression of proinflammatory cytokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 which

trigger endothelial cell death and PH. Inhibition of CXCL9 and CXCL10 activity rescues PH development.

Introduction

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a pulmonary vascular lung disease characterized by increased pressure in the pulmonary arteries leading to right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy, RV failure, and death. Pressure overload begins in the distal pulmonary arteries which undergo vascular remodeling largely characterized by vascular endothelial cell (EC) dysfunction and aberrant smooth muscle cell proliferation (1). Inflammation may play a key role in this vascular remodeling, since it is known that PAH is concomitant with a proinflammatory lung milieu and inflammatory regulators are associated with PAH disease progression and severity (1–3).

The idiopathic form of PAH exhibits striking sex differences where females are up to 4x more likely to be diagnosed than men (4). As female sex is a risk factor for developing PAH (5), the interplay between sex hormones and PAH pathogenesis has been actively investigated with particular attention to estrogens. Estrogens have been implicated in PAH pathogenesis and shown to reduce expression of bone morphogenic protein 2 (BMPR2), a mutation whose loss is associated with PAH (6, 7). However, studies have also demonstrated that circulating estrogens are protective against PH severity, and estrogen treatment has been shown to prevent and rescue PH in animal models (8–10) through mediating RV compensation to pressure overload (11, 12). The culmination of these powerful yet paradoxical studies indicates that other sex-biasing factors contribute to the sex differences observed in PAH.

Our group was the first to examine the influence of sex chromosomes in PH where we found, in the absence of circulating gonadal hormones, the male-specific Y chromosome (ChrY) is protective against experimental pulmonary hypertension (PH) (13). While this

study helps explain why males are more protected against developing PAH, the mechanism by which ChrY protection is achieved has yet to be discovered and may lead to a greater understanding around the pathogenesis of PAH and elucidate novel therapeutic strategies. ChrY genes are known to have widespread effects on autosomal gene regulation (14) and have been implicated in systemic diseases (15, 16).

In the present study, we investigated the role of the four ChrY genes that are expressed in lung tissue for their potential involvement in PH protection. We identified *Uty* as the protective ChrY gene, because reduced *Uty* expression in hypoxic (Hx) mouse lungs was sufficient to eliminate ChrY protection. We also identified two proinflammatory chemokines, CXCL9 and CXCL10, downstream of *Uty* that contribute to PH pathogenesis in a sex-specific manner and targeted these cytokines as a novel therapeutic approach. We found that inhibiting the shared CXCL9 and CXCL10 receptor significantly rescues PH development in female rats, suggesting that targeting autosomal genes downstream of *Uty* is sufficient to extend ChrY protection to females with PH.

Methods

Models of experimental PH and treatments

All experimental protocols received institutional review and Animal Research Committee approval.

siRNA knockdown in hypoxia-induced PH: Male C57BL/6J mice aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. Mice underwent gonadectomy (GDX) surgery under isoflurane anesthesia to remove gonads. After 30 days, mice were randomly divided into two groups where they received recurring intratracheal instillation of either short interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting a ChrY gene of interest or a scrambled siRNA every 5 days (1nmol/instillation, *Dharmacon Accell mouse SMARTpool:* Si-Kdm5d: E-054675-00-0005; Si-Ddx3y: E-043317-00-0005; Si-Eif2s3y: E-046339-00-0005; Si-Uty: E-046843-00-0010; Si-Scrm: siGENOME Non-Targeting siRNA Pool #2, D-001206-14-05). Mice were housed in hypoxic (Hx, 10% oxygen) conditions for three weeks while receiving their instillations (**Fig. 1A**).

Cxcr3 inhibition in monocrotaline-induced PH: Young, female intact Sprague Dawley rats (~200g) were purchased from Charles Rivers laboratories. At day 0, all animals received a subcutaneous injection of monocrotaline (MCT, 60mg/kg, Sigma). At day 14, animals were randomly divided into control or treatment groups (n=8/group). Rats were injected subcutaneously 2x/day at 12-hour intervals with small-molecule CXCR3 inhibitor AMG487 (Tocaris, cat# 4487) at a dose of 1.5mg/kg. AMG487 was dissolved in sterile 20% hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin (Sigma) prior to injection for a final volume of 250ul/injection. Rats in the control group were injected twice daily with vehicle (250ul sterile 20% hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin). Injections were performed on familiarized rats

without the use of anesthesia and continued 2x daily for the remainder of the MCT protocol (2 weeks, **Fig. 5A**). Prior to the termination of the experiment, rats underwent echocardiography followed by open-chested catheterization.

Echocardiography

Noninvasive echocardiography was performed for all animals using Vevo 2100 (Visualsonics) at baseline, before treatment, and prior to terminal catheterization under isoflurane anesthesia. Two-dimensional doppler echocardiography and long axis B-mode recordings were used to evaluate and quantify pulmonary artery acceleration time (PAAT) and RV fractional area changes (RVFAC), respectively. All quantifications were performed on blinded samples.

Hemodynamics and gross histological evaluation

Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane, placed on a heating pad to keep body temperature of ~37°C and mechanically ventilated via tracheostomy. RV systolic pressure (RVSP) was measured via direct, open-chested catherization (Millar SPR-671) of the RV, which was recorded via a pressure transducer (Power Lab, ADInstruments). RVSP measurements were obtained blindly and a RV pressure recording was recorded for 5 mins/animal. Following RV catheterization, the catheter was inserted into the left ventricle (LV) and LVSP was recorded as a control for potential blood loss. The heart was excised, dissected into components of RV wall, LV wall and interventricular septum (IVS), and weighed to calculate the Fulton index of RV hypertrophy, a ratio of RV weight to LV plus IVS weight ([RV/(LV+IVS)]).

Tissue preparation, staining and imaging

All excised murine tissues were immediately fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, soaked in 20% sucrose solution, and embedded in OCT compound (Tissue-Tek).

For RNAscope, lungs were sectioned at 7um and pretreated and stained following protocols outlined by ACD Bio RNAscope assay (*Uty validation and quantification*: RNAscope® 2.5 HD-RED, Mm-Uty cat# 451741; *Colocalization*: RNAscope® Multiplex Fluorescent Detection Kit cat# v2323110, Mm-Uty cat# 451741; Mm-Cxcl9-C2 cat# 489341-C2, Mm-Cxcl10-C2 cat# 408921-C2, Mm-Cd68-C3 cat# 316611-C3, Hs-UTY cat# 420851, Hs-CD68-C2 cat# 560591-C2, Hs-CXCL9-C3 440161-C3, Hs-CXCL10-C3 cat# 311851-C3). Images were acquired using a Nikon Confocal (Nikon Eclipse Ti, A1R MP) at 40-60X magnification using Z-stack capture and compressed and analyzed using ImageJ. For images acquired for quantification, at least 5 images were randomly taken per animal per slide. Quantification of RNA transcripts was performed on stained sections as RNAscope is demonstrated to have single-transcript resolution (17). All quantification was performed by two separate, blinded individuals on at least five images per animal.

For immunofluorescence, rat lung samples were prepared as described above and sectioned at 5µm. The sections were washed (PBS+0.1%TWEEN (Sigma) three times for 5 minutes) and incubated with 10% fetal bovine serum in PBS+0.1% TWEEN for 30 min to block the background. The sections were incubated with cleaved-caspase3 antibody (1:400, Cell Signaling Technology, cat# 9661S) and CD31 antibody (10ug/mL, Novus Biotech, cat# NB100-2284) in PBS+0.1% Triton+ 3% fetal bovine serum at 4°C overnight. The sections were washed and incubated with the secondary antibody (1:500, Alexa Fluor 488, Thermo Fisher, cat# A-11055) in PBS+0.1% TWEEN + 3% fetal bovine serum at room temperature for 1 hour. The sections were washed and incubated with

secondary antibody (1:1000, Alexa Fluor 594, Thermo Fisher, cat# A-11012) in PBS+0.1% TWEEN + 3% fetal bovine serum at room temperature for 1 hour. After washing, slides were mounted using Prolong gold with Dapi (Thermo Fisher) for imaging. Images were acquired using a Nikon Confocal (Nikon Eclipse Ti, A1R MP) at 40X magnification and analyzed using ImageJ. For images acquired for quantification, at least 5 images were randomly taken per animal per slide and cleaved caspase-3 expressing nuclei proximal to positive CD31 expression were considered positive. Quantification was obtained blindly.

Human lung samples were obtained from Pulmonary Hypertension Breakthrough Initiative repository as fixed, paraffin-embedded sections. Slides were deparaffinized, underwent target retrieval using boiling Sodium Citrate Buffer (10mM Sodium Citrate, 0.05% Tween 20, pH 6.0) prior to staining for immunofluorescence. Slides were washed (PBS, 5 minutes, 3 times) and then blocked with PBS+ 5% normal donkey serum at room temperature for 1 hour. Slides were then incubated at 4°C overnight in PBS+5% normal donkey serum primary antibody+ primary antibody (10µg/mL, R&D Systems, CXCL9 cat# AF392-SP, CXCL10 cat# AF-266-SP). Slides were washed and then incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes with PBS+5% normal donkey serum+ secondary antibody (1:500, Alexa Fluor 488, Thermo Fisher, cat# A-11055). After washing, slides were mounted using Prolong gold with Dapi (Thermo Fisher) for imaging. Images were acquired using a Nikon Confocal (Nikon Eclipse Ti, A1R MP) at 40X magnification

Real-time qPCR

For *in vivo* experiments, total lung RNA was isolated using Trizol (Thermo Scientific), and for *in vitro* experiments, RNA was isolated from cells using Trizol followed by RNeasy

Micro Kit (Qiagen). Mouse and human RNA were reverse transcribed with polydT primers using Omniscript reverse transcription kit (Qiagen), except rat RNA was reverse transcribed using gene specific primers. Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on polyA+ cDNA with primers for using iTaq Universal SYBR® (Bio-Rad). *Actb* (mouse), *Gapdh* (rat) and *RPLP0* (human) were used as housekeeping genes. See **Supplementary Table E1** for primer sequences used.

Bioinformatic Analysis

Total lung RNA was isolated using Trizol extraction and purified using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). Libraries for RNA-seq were prepared by the Technology Center for Genomics & Bioinformatics at UCLA and sequenced using paired-end Hiseq 3000 (Illumina). HISAT2 version 2.1.0 was used to align RNA-seq reads to the Mus musculus genome (mm10, Ensembl 84). StringTie version 1.3.3b was used to assemble RNA-seq alignments into transcripts and estimate expression levels of all genes detected. Differential expression analysis was performed using DESeq2 R package version 1.25.16. Differently expressed genes (DEGs) with false discovery rate <0.1 were considered statistically significant. Pathway enrichment analysis and clustering was performed using Cytoscape software (18). Publicly available human microarray data (19) was analyzed using the limma package for R to define a list of inflammatory genes expressed higher in female PAH patient lungs vs male PAH lungs.

Cell studies

PAEC experiments: PAEC from a healthy, nonsmoking male patient (Lonza) were cultured in tissue culture plates or on cover slips and spiked with recombinant CXCL9 [2 μ M, R&D Systems], CXCL10 [5 μ M, R&D Systems] or vehicle (medium) for 24 hours for

EC apoptosis assay measured via cleaved caspase-3 immunofluorescence (1:250, Cell Signaling Technology, cat# 9661S) and 72 hours for cell viability and proliferation via CCK-8 assay (Dojindo Molecular Technology). For the viability assay, 3-4 separate experiments were performed with 5-6 technical replicates per experiment. For the apoptosis assay, 4 separate experiments were performed with 2 slides per experimental group in each experiment. Images were captured with using a Nikon Confocal (Nikon Eclipse Ti, A1R MP) at and analyzed using ImageJ. 400-500 cells were counted per slide to determine the percent apoptotic cells. In both studies, experimental replicates were averaged and the value was considered one experimental data point.

Bone marrow-derived macrophage experiments: We compared WT and *Uty*-KO mice (B6.129P2(CD1)-Uty^{Gt(XS0378)/Wtsi/Mmnc) at 8-10 weeks old (Shpargel, et al (20), Mutant Mouse Resource & Research Centers strain #37420). WT and KO mice had comparable genetic backgrounds (8 generations of backcross from CD1, with a strain 129 Y chromosome). To generate these groups, a C57BL/6 mouse (male for WT group, female for *Uty*-KO group) was bred with another mouse (female for WT group, KO male for the *Uty*-KO group) that derived from the strain #37420 and was backcrossed from CD1 to C57BL/6 for 7 generations. Bone marrow (BM) was flushed from the tibia and fibula of mice using sterile PBS with 1% Antibiotic-Antimycotic (Thermo Fisher) through a sterile needle and incubated on ice with ACK lysing buffer (Thermo Fisher, cat# A1049201) followed by wash steps. BM was incubated with colony stimulating factor (20ng/mL, Sigma) for six days to induce macrophage differentiation. Once adherent, cells were treated with interferon gamma (IFNg, 10ng/mL, Thermo Fisher) for four hours. *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* expression was determined via RT-qPCR on isolated BM-derived macrophages}

as described above. Macrophage identity and polarization were confirmed using primers for *Cd68* and *MhcII* (See **Supplemental Table E1** for primer sequences).

Lung Macrophage Isolation

Fresh lung tissue from age-matched WT and Uty-KO male mice (as described above) was minced with scissors prior to enzyme dissociation. Tissue was incubated in enzymatic solution (DMEM, Thermo Fisher, cat# 11965-092), Liberase (400 ug/mL, Sigma), Elastase (100 ug/mL, Worthington Bio), and DNase (20 units/mL, Sigma) at 37°C with continuous horizontal agitation (300 rpm). After incubation, dissociated tissues were sequentially passed through 70- and 40-micron cell strainers with centrifugation at 300g for 5 minutes. Cells were treated with ACK lysing buffer (Thermo Fisher, cat# A1049201) for 3 minutes at room temperature and guenched with PBS and pelleted. The cell pellet was incubated with viability dye for 20 minutes (0.1 uL/test, Thermo Fisher, cat# L34965) and Fc block (Cd16 antibody, 0.5uL/test, Thermo Fisher, cat# 14-0161-82) for 20 minutes on ice in the dark. After being washed and spun at 300g for 3 minutes, the cell pellet was stained with CD64 antibody (0.4 µg/test, Thermo Fisher, cat# 46-0641-80) and then washed and pelleted. Pellets were kept on ice and in the dark in PBS with 5% fetal bovine serum until cell sorting. Fluorescent activated cell sorting was carried out by the UCLA Flow Cytometry Core Facility on a BD FACSArialII. The cell population obtained for Western blot experiments consisted of live (viability dye negative) CD64⁺ cells (Supplemental Fig. E3C).

Protein isolation, SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting

Whole cell protein lysates were prepared from whole lung tissue and isolated lung macrophages using RIPA lysis buffer (50 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8, 1% NP-40, 0.5%

sodium deoxycholate, and 0.1% SDS, all from Sigma) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Roche #04-906-845-001 and #118-3615-3001). Proteins (whole lung: 75 ug/well, isolated macrophages: 5 ug/well) were diluted in 4x Laemmli sample buffer (BioRad #161-0747), boiled, separated on 20% gels by SDS-PAGE and subsequently transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Biorad #170-4270) using semidry blotting (TransBlot Turbo System, BioRad). After transfer, membranes were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (Sigma #A9647) and incubated with antibodies directed against Histone H3K27 (1:300, Abcam, cat#ab6002) and Histone H3 (1:500, Abcam, cat#ab1791). IRDye-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:10.000, LI-COR #32210 and #68070) were used for detection and blots were scanned using the LI-COR Odyssey Infrared Imaging System. Band intensity was quantified using Image Studio Lite.

Statistics

For comparisons of two normally distributed, independent groups, we used an unpaired t-test. For the in vitro cell studies using PAEC, a paired t-test was used to compare viability and apoptosis between control and experimental groups within the same experimental batch. For a comparison between two nonparametric groups, we used a Mann-Whitney test. A significance level less than 5% (p<0.05) was deemed statistically significant. Analyses were made with Graph Pad Prism v.7 software. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

Results

Lung-specific knockdown of Uty, but not other ChrY genes expressed in the lung, eliminates ChrY protection against Hx-induced PH.

Our previously published work demonstrated that ChrY is protective against Hx-induced PH in mice (13). We identified only four protein coding ChrY genes expressed in mouse lung tissue, *Ddx3y* [Y-linked DEAD-box helicase 3], *Eif2s3y* [eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, subunit 3, structural gene Y-linked], *Kdm5d* [lysine demethylase 5D], and *Uty* [ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat containing, Y-linked] (13). Three of these genes, *Ddx3y*, *Kdm5d* and *Uty*, are conserved in humans, and *KDM5D* and *UTY* were both found to be downregulated in male PAH patient lungs when compared to healthy patient lungs (13).

To determine which ChrY gene is responsible for PH protection, we individually knocked down (KD) each ChrY candidate gene in the lungs of GDX Hx mice and measured the effect on PH development (**Fig. 1A**). We found no significant change in the RVSP of mice with KD of *Kdm5d* (**Fig. 1B**), *Ddx3Y* (**Fig. 1C**), or *Eif2s3y* (**Fig. 1D**). However, KD of *Uty* resulted in significantly elevated RVSP compared to the Si-Scrm control group in two separate experiments (**Fig. 1E**). Mice that received Si-Uty demonstrated a significantly lower PAAT (**Fig. 1F**). We found *Uty* expression in Si-Uty treated lungs was reduced by ~50% compared to Si-Scrm lungs (**Fig. 1G**).

These data indicate that *Uty* is likely the sole ChrY gene that confers protection because reduction of *Uty*, but not the other ChrY genes expressed in the lung, is sufficient to exacerbate PH.



Fig. 1. Lung-specific knockdown of *Uty*, but not other ChrY genes expressed in the lung, eliminates ChrY protection against Hx-induced PH. A. Experimental protocol. 30 days after gonadectomy (GDX), Male mice receive scramble Si-RNA or Si-RNA targeting ChrY genes every 5 days and are placed in hypoxia chamber for 3 weeks. **B-E.** RVSP measured by direct RV catheterization. **F.** PAAT measured by echocardiography. **G.** Quantification of *Uty* transcripts in lung tissue via RNAscope in situ hybridization (normalized to Si-Scrm). *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

Proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 are autosomal downstream deterrents of Uty protection and are upregulated in PAH patient lungs in a sex-specific manner.

To unravel the molecular mechanism underlying *Uty* protection in PH, we performed RNAseq on Hx Si-Scrm and Si-Uty mouse lung tissue and identified 523 DEGs (**Fig. 2A**). Pathway enrichment analysis highlighted five main pathways including cell signaling, extracellular matrix, transcription, translation, and inflammation (which was particularly enriched, **Fig. 2B**). Because inflammation is implicated in PAH pathogenesis and severity (2), we focused on DEGs localized in inflammatory pathways. We cross-referenced our inflammatory DEG set with an online microarray from PAH patient lung tissue (19) and searched for genes that were elevated in both Si-Uty compared to Si-Scrm, and female PAH samples compared to male, since females do not have the *UTY* gene. This analysis yielded two top genes of interest: proinflammatory chemokines *CXCL9* and *CXCL10* (**Fig. 2C**), both of which we validated to be upregulated in male and female PAH lungs with a more robust upregulation in female patients (**Fig. 2D-G**) as represented by immunofluorescence images of human healthy and PAH lungs (**Fig. 2F,G**).

Taken together, we found that downregulation of *Uty* is associated with upregulation of *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* in *Uty*-KD mouse lungs (**Fig. E1** of Supplement) and that *CXCL9* and *CXCL10* expression levels are upregulated in human PAH lungs in a sex-specific manner.



Fig. 2. Proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 are autosomal downstream deterrents of *Uty* protection and are upregulated in PAH patient lungs in a sex-specific manner. A. Comparison of RNAseq data from Si-Scrm and Si-Uty Hx mouse lungs revealed 523 differently expressed genes (DEGs). **B.** Pathways enriched with DEGs. **C.** Integration of RNAseq data with an online microarray dataset of male and female human PAH lung samples revealed *Cxcl9/CXCL9* and *Cxcl10/CXCL10* as upregulated in PAH females (vs PAH males) and Si-Uty mice (vs Si-Scrm). Relative expression of CXCL9 (**D**) and CXCL10 (**E**) in human lungs as measured by RT-qPCR. *p<0.05. Representative immunofluorescence staining of CXCL9 (**F**) and CXCL10 (**G**) in male and female lung tissue from healthy (CTRL) and diseased (PAH) patients. *p<0.05

Uty, Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 are co-localized in macrophages and Uty expression is inversely related to Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 expression.

Given the importance of macrophages in inflammation and their known expression of CXCL9 and CXCL10 (21), we tested for *Uty* expression in macrophages. Stained tissue sections from male mouse and human lungs confirmed *Uty* expression within *Cd68*⁺ macrophages (**Fig. E2A** of Supplement). Although we found *Uty* inversely related to chemokines *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10*, we examined male mouse and human lung tissue for colocalization within macrophages and found *Uty* transcripts colocalized with *Cxcl9* (**Fig. 3A,C**) and *Cxcl10* (**Fig. 3 B,D**).

To identify whether *Uty* expression in macrophages directly influences *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* production, we measured *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* expression in BMDM from male WT and *Uty*-KO mice (**Fig. 3E**). BMDM from *Uty*-KO mice expressed significantly more *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* compared to BMDM extracted from WT mice (**Fig. 3 F,G**).

Since UTY is a member of the Jumonji family of histone demethylases and its role as an H3K27 demethylase is contested in literature (20, 22–24), we examined whether the effects of UTY in the lung were mediated through demethylation. We found that UTY expression in whole lung and isolated lung macrophages did not influence levels of H3K27 tri-methylated protein as measured by western blot (**Fig. E3** of Supplement).

In summary, we found *Uty*, which colocalizes with *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* in lung macrophages, regulates *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* expression, but has no apparent effect on H3K27 demethylation.



Fig. 3. *Uty*, *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* are co-localized in macrophages and *Uty* expression is inversely related to *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* expression. Representative images depicting colocalization of in situ probes labeling *Cd68/CD68* (red), *Uty/UTY* (green) and *Cxcl9/CXCL9* (white) in mouse (**A**) and human (**C**) lung sections. Representative images depicting colocalization of *in situ* probes labeling *Cd68/CD68* (red), *Uty/UTY* (green) and *Cxcl10/CXCL10* (white) in mouse (**B**) and human (**D**) lung sections. Schematic of bone marrow derived macrophage (BMDM) in vitro experiments (**E**). Relative expression of *Cxcl9* (**F**) and *Cxcl10* (**G**) as measured by RT-qPCR in BMDM isolated from wildtype (WT) and Uty knockout (Uty-KO) mice. **p<0.05*, ***p<0.01*

CXCL9 and CXCL10 expression triggers pulmonary artery endothelial cell dysfunction.

To identify the mechanism by which *Uty* downstream autosomal genes *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* promote PH severity, we performed *in vitro* cell studies using human PAEC, which express the shared CXCL9 and CXCL10 receptor and are known to contribute to vascular remodeling in PAH. We incubated human PAEC with exogenous recombinant human CXCL9 and CXCL10 protein and measured the effect on EC dysfunction, a hallmark of PAH pathophysiology (**Fig. 4A**). Treatment of PAEC with either CXCL9 or CXCL10 resulted in decreased PAEC viability as measured by CCK-8 assay (**Fig. 4B,C**) and increased PAEC apoptosis as measured by quantification of cleaved caspase-3 staining (**Fig. 4D,E,F**).

These data demonstrate that proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10, which are upregulated in the absence of *Uty*, induce PAEC dysfunction *in vitro*.

Blocking the activity of CXCL9 and CXCL10 is sufficient to rescue PH in female MCT rats.

Since we identified that *Uty* expression regulates *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10*, we hypothesized that *Uty* protection against PH is mediated through reduced levels of proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10. We tested whether we could extend the mechanism of *Uty* protection to females with PH by blocking the effects of CXCL9 and CXCL10 using a small-molecular inhibitor (AMG487) targeting their shared receptor, CXCR3 (**Fig. 5A**). To better highlight protective effects, we used a more severe model of PH which was induced by MCT injection in rats. We tested our preclinical treatment strategy on gonad-



Fig. 4. CXCL9 and CXCL10 recombinant protein triggers pulmonary artery endothelial cell dysfunction. Schematic of human PA endothelial cell (PAEC) experiments (**A**). Relative viability of PAEC treated with CXCL9 (**B**) or CXCL10 (**C**) as measured by CCK-8 assay. Representative images of cleaved caspase-3 (CC-3, red) immunofluorescence in vehicle, CXCL9 and CXCL10 treated cells (**D**). Quantification of percent apoptosis measured in PAEC treated with CXCL9 (**E**) or CXCL0 (**F**) as measured by CC-3 immunofluorescence. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001

intact females to determine if targeting CXCL9 and CXCL0 would be a viable treatment strategy for the most at-risk PAH population. We found that AMG487 sufficiently rescued PH development as treated rats had significantly lower RVSP (**Fig. 5B**). Fulton index measurements revealed that reduced RV pressure was concomitant with a reduction in RV hypertrophy (**Fig. 5C**). AMG487 treated rats exhibited increased PAAT (**Fig. 5D**) and RV fractional area change (RCFAC, **Fig. 5E**) indicative of lower PA pressure and improved RV function, respectively.

Since CXCL9 and CXCL10 induce PAEC apoptosis and reduce viability *in vitro* (**Fig. 4**), we aimed to delineate whether this cellular mechanism underlies the PH protection conferred by AMG487 treatment in rats. We found reduced EC apoptosis in the lungs of AMG487 treated rats, as observed by less cleaved caspase-3 expression in EC, indicating that blocking the actions of CXCL9 and CXCL10 reduced pulmonary vascular EC dysfunction (**Fig. 5F,G**).

Taken together, we demonstrate that inhibiting the shared CXCL9 and CXCL10 receptor in gonad-intact female rats is a viable preclinical treatment strategy as it reduced PH severity and lung vascular EC dysfunction.



Fig. 5. Blocking the activity of CXCLI9 and CXCL10 is sufficient to rescue PH in female MCT rats. Schematic of in vivo experiments in female rats (A). RV systolic pressure (B), PA acceleration time (C), Fulton index (RV/LV+IVS) (D); and RV fractional area change (E) measured in AMG487 treated rats compared to vehicle controls. Quantification (F) and representative images (G) of apoptotic EC cells in CD31 (green) and cleaved-caspase 3 (CC3, pink) labeled sections from vehicle and AMG treated lungs. *p<0.05, **p<0.01

Discussion

We recently demonstrated that ChrY is protective against experimental PH (13), and this study is the first to investigate the role of each ChrY gene expressed in the lung in protecting against PH. We found that KD of *Uty*, but not ChrY genes *Eif2s3y*, *Ddx3y* or *Kdm5d*, within the lung tissue of GDX male mice exposed to Hx increased PH severity thereby eliminating ChrY protection (**Fig. 1**). We examined *Uty* in the context of PH pathogenesis and found that loss of *Uty* expression in PH lungs resulted in an upregulation of proinflammatory chemokines *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* (Supplemental **Fig. E1**). Interestingly, *CXCL9* and *CXCL10* are upregulated in PAH patient lungs in a sex-specific manner with a more robust upregulation in female patients compared to males (**Fig. 2**). We found that stimulating human PAEC with exogenous CXCL9 or CXCL10 was sufficient to trigger PAEC dysfunction, a hallmark of PAH pathogenies (**Fig. 4**). Furthermore, blocking CXCL9 and CXCL10 action is a novel strategy for the treatment of PH because it reduced EC apoptosis and PH severity in female rats (**Fig. 5**). **Figure 6** summarizes our findings.

UTY is a member of the Jumonji family of H3K27 histone demethylases and is the ChrY homolog of the ChrX gene *Kdm6a (25)*. Although KDM6A is a known H3K27 demethylase (26), the demethylase activity of UTY is contested (20, 23, 24). While structurally very similar to KDM6A, UTY has undergone biochemical changes and is known to have unique functions (15, 20, 27). While Walport *et al* demonstrated residual demethylase activity in the human UTY enzyme (22), Lan *et al*, Hong et al, and Shpargel *et al* found no UTY enzymatic activity (20, 23, 24). We investigated whether UTY expression influences the H3K27 histone residue and found no significant difference in H3K27 methylation between
male WT and *Uty*-KO in whole lung tissue or isolated lung macrophages (**Supplemental Fig. E3**). Our data suggest that Uty induced protection is not mediated through epigenetic regulation of H3K27.

Regardless of its loss of catalytic activity, *Uty* expression was recently demonstrated to have widespread effects on autosomal gene expression (14) and is known to be involved in cardiac development (20). Dysregulation of *UTY* is implicated in bladder cancer (28) and its expression within macrophages is associated with increased atherosclerosis risk in men (15, 29, 30). Our study, however, is the first to identify and examine the role of *Uty* in the context of PH pathogenesis and its contribution to ChrY protection through mediating the expression of proinflammatory chemokines *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10*.

Since *Uty* expression was previously found in macrophages (30) and CXCL9 and CXCL10 are proinflammatory chemokines secreted by immune cells (21), we confirmed colocalization of *Uty* with *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* in lung macrophages using RNAscope *in situ* hybridization (**Fig. 3**). *In situ* probes were used after we determined the commercially available UTY antibodies were not specific to UTY as they also recognized KDM6A which is expressed in both male and female lung tissue compared to UTY which is exclusive to males. We believe our RNAscope images are the first to depict *Uty*, but not *Kdm6a*, expression in mouse and human lung tissue (**Fig. E2B** of Supplement).

As *Uty* expression is colocalized with *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* in lung macrophages, we tested whether *Uty* expression in macrophages directly influences *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* production. We found M1 macrophages derived from *Uty*-KO BM have higher expression of *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* indicating that *Uty* expression in macrophages regulates *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* production (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 6. Proposed mechanism of *Uty/Cxcl9/10* **axis in PH pathogenesis.** *Uty/UTY* absence (in females) or reduced expression (males with PAH or *Uty*-KD or KO mice) results in an upregulation of proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 in the lung. CXCL9 and CXCL10 trigger vascular EC dysfunction resulting in increased PH severity. Blocking CXCL9 and CXCL10 activity by pharmacologically inhibiting their shared receptor, CXCR3, is a novel treatment strategy to rescue PH development.

CXCL9 and CXCL10 are proinflammatory chemokines that act through the same G protein-coupled receptor, CXCR3 (21). Dysregulation of these small proteins, which are known to promote chemotaxis and immune cell differentiation, is associated with a myriad of systemic inflammatory diseases including cancers, scleroderma, pulmonary fibrosis and even PAH (31–35). Prior to this study, CXCL9 and CXCL10 were associated with PAH severity, and plasma levels of CXCL10 were found to be upregulated in PAH patients compared to healthy controls (33, 34). However, sex differences in *CXCL9* and *CXCL0* expression in PAH patients and the mechanism by which they promote PAH development were not known. We found that *CXCL9* and *CXCL10* are upregulated in human PAH lung tissues with a more robust upregulation in female patients compared to males (**Fig. 2**). This finding provides further evidence that complex sex differences exist within the immune response to PAH which could impact susceptibility, disease severity and treatment strategies between male and female patients (36, 37).

Previous studies found that upregulation of CXCR3 expression and the CXCL9 and CXCL10 ligands promote EC apoptosis (38–40). As pulmonary EC are one of the cell types most implicated in PAH, we investigated whether CXCL9 and CXCL10 recombinant protein directly influence PAH pathogenesis through PAEC. We found treating human PAEC with exogenous CXCL9 or CXCL10 was sufficient to trigger PAEC dysfunction as measured by decreased PAEC viability concomitant with increased apoptosis (**Fig. 4**). PAEC dysfunction, a hallmark of PAH pathogenies, is known to increase PH severity through dysregulation of angiogenesis, altered secretion of vasoactive agents and increasing vascular permeability (41).

Considering females, who lack ChrY, are particularly susceptible to PAH and that males with PAH have reduced expression of *UTY*, we tested whether blocking the activity of the downstream effector genes *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* could reduce PH severity akin to *Uty* protection. We found that blocking the activity CXCL9 and CXCL10 by inhibiting their shared receptor is a promising treatment strategy as it significantly reduced RV pressure and PH severity in female rats (**Fig. 5**). We also found *in vivo* inhibition of CXCL9 and CXCL10 reduced vascular EC apoptosis (**Fig. 5**).

We chose small-molecule inhibitor AMG487 for our preclinical *in vivo* studies for its efficacy and clinical relevance. Since *CXCL9* and *CXCL10* are upregulated in PAH patients and contribute to PH pathophysiology, blocking the activity of both through inhibiting their shared receptor provides an efficient treatment strategy. Furthermore, AMG487 compound has been tested as stable, specific, and safe in humans (42). Our preclinical experiments demonstrate that identifying and targeting Uty downstream autosomal effector genes is a promising and powerful way to extend ChrY protection against PAH.

We believe our current study presents the first and only data to directly explain ChrY protection against PH. A recent study from Yan, *et al* noted a connection between the testes determining ChrY gene *Sry* and the PAH-related gene *Bmpr2* in dermal fibroblasts (43); however, we do not believe this connection is sufficient to explain ChrY protection. Our previous study demonstrating ChrY protection utilized the Four Core Genotypes (FCG) mouse model which is well published and highlights striking sex chromosome effects in a variety of diseases (44). The FCG model allowed us to determine the effects of sex chromosomes, independent of gonadal effects, by producing gonadal male and

female mice with either XX or XY chromosomes (13). The model produces XY gonadal females lacking Sry, which we found to be protected against PH compared to XX females (13). Furthermore, Sry/SRY expression is not detected in lung tissue. Uty is therefore the only ChrY gene expressed in the lung tissue that we demonstrate to influence PH severity. Our study is the first to provide mechanistic insight into ChrY protection in PH and elucidates a novel therapeutic strategy targeting the activity of Uty downstream mediators upregulated in male and female PAH patients. We show that reduced expression of *Uty*, which is downregulated as a result of PAH in males and absent in females, upregulates proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 which promote PH severity through PAEC dysfunction and that targeting the activity of CXCL9 and CXCL10 reduces PH severity (Fig. 6). While these results explain why females, who lack UTY, are more likely to be diagnosed with PAH, they do not explain why males have worse prognoses and clinical outcomes once diagnosed (45). Since we show Uty expression is involved in mediating the immune response, we hypothesize that the reduction of UTY expression in male lungs, as a result of PAH, may trigger a harmful immune cascade and imbalance that causes severe PAH. As a future direction, we aim to characterize the immune system in WT and Uty-KO mice to identify additional downstream effector genes. Investigating additional Uty downstream genes and their connection to PAH pathogenesis, as demonstrated in this study, is a promising avenue of research that may provide additional insight and therapeutic approaches for this rare, terminal disease.

Supplemental Table E1: Primer sequences

Species	Gene	Sequences (5 'to 3')
Human	RPLP0	F: CAGGTGTTCGACAATGGCAG
		R: ACAAGGCCAGGACTCGTTTG
	CXCL9	F: GGTGTTCTTTCCTCTTGGGC3
		R: AACAGCGACCCTTTCTCACT
	CXCL10	F: GGTGTTCTTTCCTCTTGGGC3
		R: AACAGCGACCCTTTCTCACT
Mouse	Actb	F: ATGTGGATCAGCAAGCAGGA
		R: AAGGGTGTAAAACGCAGCTCA
	Uty	F: TGACCCTAATTTTTGCAGAGC
		R: TGAAACTGAATTTCGACACTGG
	Cxcl9	F: GGAGTTCGAGGAACCCTAGTG
		R: GGGATTTGTAGTGGATCGTGC
	Cxcl10	F: CCAAGTGCTGCCGTCATTTTC
		R: GGCTCGCAGGGATGATTTCAA
	MhcII	F: AAGGCATTTCGTGTACCAGTTC
		R: CCTCCCGGTTGTAGATGTATCTG
	Cd68	F: TGTCTGATCTTGCTAGGACCG
		R: GAGAGTAACGGCCTTTTTGTGA
Rat	Gapdh	F: GTGCCAGCCTCGTCTCATAG
		R: GGTAACCAGGCGTCCGATAC
	Uty	F: AGACGCTGTTGAACAAGGCA
		R: TTTGCTGCACCATGAGTTCCT
	<i>Uty</i> (Gene- specific RT)	AGGGGTCCTTCAGTCTCACA



Fig. E1. Knockdown of *Uty* **in Hx male mouse lungs results in increased** *Cxcl9* **and** *Cxcl10* **expression.** Relative expression of (A) *Cxcl9* and (B) *Cxcl10* in GDX Hx mouse lungs that received intratracheal instillation of either Si-Scrm or Si-Uty. Analysis is based on RNAsequencing data from Si-Scrm and Si-Uty Hx mouse lungs. *p<0.05, **p<0.01



Fig. E2. *Uty* is expressed in macrophages in the lungs of male mice and humans.

A. RNAscope fluorescent in situ duplex hybridization for *Uty/UTY* (white) and macrophage marker, *Cd68/CD68* (red) in mouse and human. Nuclei are stained with dapi (blue). Small dotted boxes are shown at higher magnification. **B.** RNAscope in situ hybridization shows *Uty* signal in male mouse lung (red dots) but not in female.



Fig. E3. *Uty* protection in PH is not mediated through an epigenetic modification. Western blot depicting relative expression of tri-methylated H3K27 normalized to H3 (n=4 or 6/group) in whole lung tissue (**A**) or lung macrophages (**B**) from *Uty*-KO and WT male mice. (**C**). Representative images of fluorescent activated cell sorting of live CD64⁺ macrophages isolated from WT and UTY-KO lungs.

Acknowledgments

We thank Mylène Vaillancourt, Crystal Eshraghi and Xuqi Chen for their help with experimental procedures, Tristan R. Grogan for advice with statistics, and Karl Shpargel for helpful discussions. We would also like to acknowledge the Translational Pathology Core Laboratory, the Technology Center for Genomics & Bioinformatics, and the Flow Cytometry Core Facility at UCLA for their assistance with tissue preparation, RNAsequencing, and cell sorting respectively. We thank the Pulmonary Hypertension Breakthrough Initiative for their biobank of human PAH tissues. *Uty* knock-out mice were obtained from the Mutant Mouse Resource & Research Centers (MMRRC).

References

- 1. Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 2012;122:4306–4313.
- 2. Rabinovitch M, Guignabert C, Humbert M, Nicolls MR. Inflammation and Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circ Res* 2014;115:165–175.
- Guignabert C, Tu L, Hiress ML, Ricard N, Sattler C, Seferian A, Huertas A, Humbert M, Montani D. Pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension: lessons from cancer. *Eur Respir Rev* 2013;22:543–551.
- Walker AM, Langleben D, Korelitz JJ, Rich S, Rubin LJ, Strom BL, Gonin R, Keast S, Badesch D, Barst RJ, Bourge RC, Channick R, Frost A, Gaine S, McGoon M, McLaughlin V, Murali S, Oudiz RJ, Robbins IM, Tapson V, Abenhaim L, Constantine G. Temporal trends and drug exposures in pulmonary hypertension: An American experience. *Am Heart J* 2006;152:521–526.
- 5. Foderaro A, Ventetuolo CE. Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension and the Sex Hormone Paradox. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 2016;18:84.
- Fessel JP, Chen X, Frump A, Gladson S, Blackwell T, Kang C, Johnson J, Loyd JE, Hemnes A, Austin E, West J. Interaction between bone morphogenetic protein receptor type 2 and estrogenic compounds in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Pulm Circ* 2013;3:564–577.
- 7. Hamada H, Kim MK, Iwakura A, Ii M, Thorne T, Qin G, Asai J, Tsutsumi Y, Sekiguchi H, Silver M, Wecker A, Bord E, Zhu Y, Kishore R, Losordo DW. Estrogen receptors alpha and beta mediate contribution of bone marrow-derived endothelial

progenitor cells to functional recovery after myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2006;114:2261–2270.

- Umar S, Iorga A, Matori H, Nadadur RD, Li J, Maltese F, van der Laarse A, Eghbali
 M. Estrogen rescues preexisting severe pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;184:715–723.
- Rabinovitch M, Gamble WJ, Miettinen OS, Reid L. Age and sex influence on pulmonary hypertension of chronic hypoxia and on recovery. *Am J Physiol* 1981;240:H62-72.
- 10. Farhat MY, Chen MF, Bhatti T, Iqbal A, Cathapermal S, Ramwell PW. Protection by oestradiol against the development of cardiovascular changes associated with monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 1993;110:719–723.
- 11. Frump AL, Goss KN, Vayl A, Albrecht M, Fisher A, Tursunova R, Fierst J, Whitson J, Cucci AR, Brown MB, Lahm T. Estradiol improves right ventricular function in rats with severe angioproliferative pulmonary hypertension: effects of endogenous and exogenous sex hormones. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015;308:L873-890.
- 12. Nadadur RD, Umar S, Wong G, Eghbali M, Iorga A, Matori H, Partow-Navid R, Eghbali M. Reverse right ventricular structural and extracellular matrix remodeling by estrogen in severe pulmonary hypertension. *J Appl Physiol Bethesda Md* 1985 2012;113:149–158.
- Umar S, Cunningham CM, Itoh Y, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Sarji S, Centala A, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197:952–955.

- 14. Deschepper CF. Regulatory effects of the Uty / Ddx3y locus on neighboring chromosome Y genes and autosomal mRNA transcripts in adult mouse nonreproductive cells. *Sci Rep* 2020;10:14900.
- 15. Maan AA, Eales J, Akbarov A, Rowland J, Xu X, Jobling MA, Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M. The Y chromosome: a blueprint for men's health? *Eur J Hum Genet* 2017;25:1181–1188.
- 16. Case LK, Teuscher C. Y genetic variation and phenotypic diversity in health and disease. *Biol Sex Differ* 2015;6:6.
- 17. Hildyard JCW, Rawson F, Wells DJ, Piercy RJ. Multiplex in situ hybridization within a single transcript: RNAscope reveals dystrophin mRNA dynamics. *bioRxiv* 2019;791780.doi:10.1101/791780.
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, Amin N, Schwikowski B, Ideker T. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res* 2003;13:2498–2504.
- 19. Miao R, Leng D, Wang Y, Li JF, Gong JN, Liang Y, Yang YH. [Differentially expressed genes analysis in expression profile data of pulmonary fibrosis with pulmonary hypertension]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 2017;97:1240–1243.
- 20. Shpargel KB, Sengoku T, Yokoyama S, Magnuson T. UTX and UTY demonstrate histone demethylase-independent function in mouse embryonic development. *PLoS Genet* 2012;8:e1002964.
- 21. Comerford I, McColl SR. Mini-review series: focus on chemokines. *Immunol Cell Biol* 2011;89:183–184.

- 22. Walport LJ, Hopkinson RJ, Vollmar M, Madden SK, Gileadi C, Oppermann U, Schofield CJ, Johansson C. Human UTY(KDM6C) is a male-specific Nε-methyl lysyl demethylase. *J Biol Chem* 2014;289:18302–18313.
- 23. Lan F, Bayliss PE, Rinn JL, Whetstine JR, Wang JK, Chen S, Iwase S, Alpatov R, Issaeva I, Canaani E, Roberts TM, Chang HY, Shi Y. A histone H3 lysine 27 demethylase regulates animal posterior development. *Nature* 2007;449:689–694.
- 24. Hong S, Cho Y-W, Yu L-R, Yu H, Veenstra TD, Ge K. Identification of JmjC domaincontaining UTX and JMJD3 as histone H3 lysine 27 demethylases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2007;104:18439–18444.
- 25. Gažová I, Lengeling A, Summers KM. Lysine demethylases KDM6A and UTY: The X and Y of histone demethylation. *Mol Genet Metab* 2019;127:31–44.
- 26. Van der Meulen J, Speleman F, Van Vlierberghe P. The H3K27me3 demethylase UTX in normal development and disease. *Epigenetics* 2014;9:658–668.
- Cortez D, Marin R, Toledo-Flores D, Froidevaux L, Liechti A, Waters PD, Grützner F, Kaessmann H. Origins and functional evolution of Y chromosomes across mammals. *Nature* 2014;508:488–493.
- 28. Ahn J, Kim KH, Park S, Ahn Y-H, Kim HY, Yoon H, Lee JH, Bang D, Lee DH. Target sequencing and CRISPR/Cas editing reveal simultaneous loss of UTX and UTY in urothelial bladder cancer. *Oncotarget* 2016;7:63252–63260.
- 29. Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M, Padmanabhan S, Lacka B, Upton MN, Inglis GC, Anderson NH, McConnachie A, Zukowska-Szczechowska E, Grzeszczak W, Connell JMC, Watt GCM, Dominiczak AF. The Y chromosome effect on blood

pressure in two European populations. *Hypertens Dallas Tex 1979* 2002;39:353–356.

- 30. Eales JM, Maan AA, Xu X, Michoel T, Hallast P, Batini C, Zadik D, Prestes PR, Molina E, Denniff M, Schroeder J, Bjorkegren JLM, Thompson J, Maffia P, Guzik TJ, Keavney B, Jobling MA, Samani NJ, Charchar FJ, Tomaszewski M. Human Y Chromosome Exerts Pleiotropic Effects on Susceptibility to Atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2019;39:2386–2401.
- 31. Rabquer BJ, Tsou P-S, Hou Y, Thirunavukkarasu E, Haines GK, Impens AJ, Phillips K, Kahaleh B, Seibold JR, Koch AE. Dysregulated expression of MIG/CXCL9, IP-10/CXCL10 and CXCL16 and their receptors in systemic sclerosis. *Arthritis Res Ther* 2011;13:R18.
- 32. Tokunaga R, Zhang W, Naseem M, Puccini A, Berger MD, Soni S, McSkane M, Baba H, Lenz H-J. CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11/CXCR3 axis for immune activation - a target for novel cancer therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2018;63:40–47.
- 33. Ross DJ, Strieter RM, Fishbein MC, Ardehali A, Belperio JA. Type I immune response cytokine–chemokine cascade is associated with pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Heart Lung Transplant* 2012;31:865–873.
- 34. Mamazhakypov A, Viswanathan G, Lawrie A, Schermuly RT, Rajagopal S. The role of chemokines and chemokine receptors in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Br J Pharmacol* 2021;178:72–89.
- 35. Keane MP. The role of chemokines and cytokines in lung fibrosis. *Eur Respir Rev* 2008;17:151–156.

- 36. Tamosiuniene Rasa, Manouvakhova Olga, Mesange Paul, Saito Toshie, Qian Jin, Sanyal Mrinmoy, Lin Yu-Chun, Nguyen Linh P., Luria Amir, Tu Allen B., Sante Joshua M., Rabinovitch Marlene, Fitzgerald Desmond J., Graham Brian B., Habtezion Aida, Voelkel Norbert F., Aurelian Laure, Nicolls Mark R. Dominant Role for Regulatory T Cells in Protecting Females Against Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circ Res* 2018;122:1689–1702.
- 37. Ruffenach Grégoire, O'Connor Ellen, Vaillancourt Mylène, Hong Jason, Cao Nancy, Sarji Shervin, Moazeni Shayan, Papesh Jeremy, Grijalva Victor, Cunningham Christine M., Shu Le, Chattopadhyay Arnab, Tiwari Shuchita, Mercier Olaf, Perros Frédéric, Umar Soban, Yang Xia, Gomes Aldrin V., Fogelman Alan M., Reddy Srinivasa T., Eghbali Mansoureh. Oral 15-Hydroxyeicosatetraenoic Acid Induces Pulmonary Hypertension in Mice by Triggering T Cell–Dependent Endothelial Cell Apoptosis. *Hypertension* 2020;76:985–996.
- 38. Darakhshan S, Hassanshahi G, Mofidifar Z, Soltani B, Karimabad MN. CXCL9/CXCL10 angiostasis CXC-chemokines in parallel with the CXCL12 as an angiogenesis CXC-chemokine are variously expressed in pre-eclamptic-women and their neonates. *Pregnancy Hypertens* 2019;17:36–42.
- 39. Green LA, Petrusca D, Rajashekhar G, Gianaris T, Schweitzer KS, Wang L, Justice MJ, Petrache I, Clauss M. Cigarette smoke-induced CXCR3 receptor up-regulation mediates endothelial apoptosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 2012;47:807–814.
- 40. Wang X, Zhao Z, Zhu K, Bao R, Meng Y, Bian J, Wan X, Yang T. Effects of CXCL4/CXCR3 on the lipopolysaccharide-induced injury in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J Cell Physiol* 2019;234:22378–22385.

41. Budhiraja Rohit, Tuder Rubin M., Hassoun Paul M. Endothelial Dysfunction in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation* 2004;109:159–165.

42. AMG-487. at <https://drugs.ncats.io/substance/355CGR2CBL>.

- 43. Yan L, Cogan JD, Hedges LK, Nunley B, Hamid R, Austin ED. The Y Chromosome Regulates BMPR2 Expression via SRY: A Possible Reason 'Why' Fewer Males Develop PAH. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;doi:10.1164/rccm.201802-0308LE.
- 44. Burgoyne PS, Arnold AP. A primer on the use of mouse models for identifying direct sex chromosome effects that cause sex differences in non-gonadal tissues. *Biol Sex Differ* 2016;7:68.
- 45. Marra AM, Benjamin N, Eichstaedt C, Salzano A, Arcopinto M, Gargani L, D Alto M, Argiento P, Falsetti L, Di Giosia P, Isidori AM, Ferrara F, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Grünig E. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;114:103–109.

Chapter 4: Upregulation of Endothelin-2 in pulmonary arterial hypertension in females could explain sexually dimorphic response to endothelin receptor antagonists

Introduction

Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) is a pulmonary vascular disease caused by a decrease in pulmonary vascular compliance which leads to an increased pulmonary artery and right ventricular pressures. Reduced pulmonary vascular compliance is due to aberrant vasoconstriction and cellular dysfunction within the medial and distal pulmonary arterioles (1, 2). The idiopathic form of PAH exhibits complex sex differences where females are more likely to be diagnosed with PAH yet are more likely to respond to treatment (3, 4). While there is no cure for this rare but terminal disease, the mainstay of patient care, which include treatment with prostacyclin, nitric oxide and endothelial receptor antagonists (ERAs), largely focus on vasodilation and increase median patient lifespan from 5 to 7 years (5). Once diagnosed, females generally have a better prognosis and are more responsive to treatment with ERAs; however, the underlying cause of this sex disparity in ERA treatment remains unknown (3, 4).

We previously found that the male-specific Y chromosome gene *Uty* is protective against experimental pulmonary hypertension through attenuating the deleterious effects of proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 which trigger vascular endothelial cell (EC) dysfunction and more severe PH ((6), **Chapter 3**). In the current study, we found that ET-2, a member of the Endothelin family of potent vasoconstrictive peptides, is also upregulated in the lungs of mice with PH as a result of *Uty* knockdown. Additionally, we found CXCL9 and CXCL10 treatment was sufficient to trigger the secretion of ET-2 by dysfunctional vascular EC indicating that there is crosstalk between these downstream pathways that are regulated by *Uty* expression.

Endothelin-1 (ET-1), which shares the same ETA and ETB receptors, is known to be upregulated in PAH lungs and linked to pulmonary vasoconstriction and elevated PA pressure (5, 7); however, ET-2 has not been studied in the context of PAH. We found ET-2 is exclusively upregulated in the lungs of female PAH patients, but not male PAH patients, compared to healthy controls. We also found a sex-specific and PAH-specific expression of ET receptors, ETA and ETB. In healthy lung tissue, females exhibited increased expression of ETA compared to males; and in PAH lung tissue, females exhibited increased expression of ETB compared to males. Regardless, the expression of ET receptors seems to be upregulated in females compared to males, indicating that ET-2 signaling is increased in the lungs of PAH females compared to those of PAH males and healthy males and females.

Both ETA and ETB receptors are the targets of ERA therapies used to block the vasoconstrictive effects of ET-1 in PAH. It is known that females, while more likely to be diagnosed with PAH, exhibit a better prognosis and respond more strongly to ERA treatment. Sex hormones and sex chromosomes are known to contribute to the marked sex differences in PAH disease susceptibility; however, the underlying cause of sexspecific responses to ERA therapies is not known. Our findings are the first to suggest sex differences in response to ERA treatment in PAH patients may be due to increased ET-2 expression as well as higher expression of ET receptors in female PAH patients compared to male patients driven by lack of *UTY* expression.

Methods

Uty knockdown in mice

Uty knockdown experiments in mice with hypoxia-induced PH were performed in a previous study described in **Chapter 3**. Briefly, male C57BL/6J mice aged 6-8 weeks were purchased from Jackson Laboratories and underwent gonadectomy (GDX) surgery under isoflurane anesthesia to remove gonads. After 30 days, mice were randomly divided into two groups where they received recurring intratracheal instillation of either short interfering RNA (siRNA) targeting a Uty or a scrambled siRNA every 5 days (1nmol/instillation, *Dharmacon Accell mouse SMARTpool:* Si-Uty: E-046843-00-0010; Si-Scrm: siGENOME Non-Targeting siRNA Pool #2, D-001206-14-05). Mice were housed in hypoxic (Hx, 10% oxygen) conditions for three weeks while receiving instillations. Upon the termination of these experiments, mouse lungs were quickly excised, perfused with PBS, snap snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored in -80°C until use.

Bioinformatic Analysis

Total lung RNA was isolated using Trizol extraction and purified using RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen). Libraries for RNA-seq were prepared by the Technology Center for Genomics & Bioinformatics at UCLA and sequenced using paired-end Hiseq 3000 (Illumina). HISAT2 version 2.1.0 was used to align RNA-seq reads to the Mus musculus genome (mm10, Ensembl 84). StringTie version 1.3.3b was used to assemble RNA-seq alignments into transcripts and estimate expression levels of all genes detected. Differential expression analysis was performed using DESeq2 R package version 1.25.16. Differently expressed genes (DEGs) with false discovery rate <0.1 were

considered statistically significant. Pathway enrichment analysis and clustering was performed using Cytoscape software (8).

Human samples:

Human samples were obtained from UCLA lung transplant group or Pulmonary Hypertension Breakthrough Initiative. Control samples were collected from failed donor lung tissue or resected tissue during lung biopsy. Patients in control group do not exhibit PAH. PAH lung samples were collected from patients with a clinical PAH diagnosis at the time of lung transplantation. All tissue samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored in -80°C until use.

Real-time qPCR

RNA was isolated from tissue samples using Trizol reagent (ThermoFisher). Mouse and human RNA were reverse transcribed with polydT primers using Omniscript reverse transcription kit (Qiagen). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on polyA+ cDNA with primers for using iTaq Universal SYBR® (Bio-Rad). *Actb* (mouse) and *RPLPO* (human) were used as housekeeping genes.

Cell studies

Human pulmonary artery EC from a healthy male were incubated at 37°C with human recombinant CXCL9 or CXCL10 protein or vehicle. After 72 hours, ET-2 expression in the conditioned culture medium of treated EC was measured by ELISA (FineTest).

Statistics

For comparisons of two normally distributed, independent groups, we used an unpaired t-test. For comparisons of sex differences, we compared male and female values from each experimental group (healthy or PAH). For a comparison between two nonparametric groups, we used a Mann-Whitney test. A significance level less than 5% (p<0.05) was deemed statistically significant.

Results

Knockdown of Y chromosome gene *Uty* in the lungs of PH mice results in an upregulation of ET-2 expression.

We previously found that the male-specific Y chromosome is protective against PH development and that knocking down Y chromosome gene *Uty* within the lungs of PH mice is sufficient to eliminate this protection (**Chapters 2, 3**). We Integrated RNA sequencing data from *Uty* knockdown mouse lungs with an online microarray dataset of male and female human PAH lung samples which revealed Endothelin-2 (ET-2) is upregulated in both *Uty* knockdown mice compared to wildtype and PAH females compared to males (**Figure 1**). We validated that the lungs of mice with *Uty* knockdown exhibited elevated ET-2 expression compared to wildtype PH controls (**Figure 2A**). Expression of ET-1 and ET receptors ETA and ETB did not change as a result of Uty knockdown in PH mouse lungs (**Figure 2B**).



Figure 1. Schematic of bioinformatic analysis to identify Uty- and sex-specific candidate genes. A. A heatmap depicting 523 differently expressed genes as a result of Uty knockdown (Uty-KD) in hypoxic mouse lungs. **B.** A heatmap depicting genes that are expressed higher in both Uty-KD lungs (vs wildtype (WT)) and female PAH patients (vs male PAH patients) (*red boxes*).

ET-2 expression is upregulated in the lungs of PAH female patients but not male PAH patients.

After identifying the upregulation of ET-2 in PH mouse lungs as a result of reduced expression of the Y chromosome gene *Uty*, we examined the effect of sex on ET-2 expression in human PAH lung tissue. We found female PAH patients exhibited elevated ET-2 lung tissue expression compared to healthy female patients (**Figure 3**). ET-2 upregulation in PAH patient lungs was not observed in males (**Figure 3**). Thus, elevated ET-2 expression in PAH lung tissue is sex-specific and exclusive to female patients.

ET receptor expression is upregulated in healthy female lungs compared to healthy males and altered in PAH in a sex-specific manner.

Following the identification of a robust, female-specific elevation of ET-2 as a result of PAH, we examined the expression of ET receptors, ETA and ETB, in the lung tissue of males and females with and without PAH. We found that in healthy lung tissue, ET receptors are elevated in females compared to males with a significant upregulation of ETA and a trend toward upregulation of ETB (**Figure 4A**). We identified that the sex differences in ET receptor expression were also altered as a result of PAH. In male and female PAH lung tissue, female upregulation of ETA is no longer significant; however, both ETA and ETB trend toward elevated expression compared to males (**Figure 4B**).



Figure 2. Knockdown of Y chromosome gene *Uty* in the lungs of PH mice results in an upregulation of ET-2 expression. A. Expression of ET-2, but not ET-1, is increased in the lungs of *Uty* knockdown mice vs. wildtype (WT) controls. *p<0.05. **B**. Expression of ETA and ETB receptors is not altered as a result of *Uty* knockdown in the lung.



Figure 3. ET-2 expression is upregulated in the lungs of PAH female patients but not male PAH patients. Expression of ET-2 is increased exclusively in the lungs of PAH women, but not in men. Expression in females is normalized to corresponding males. *p<0.05.

Taken together, female healthy and PAH lung tissue have slightly elevated expression of ET receptors compared to males, and this sex difference in ET receptors is altered, but not eliminated, by PAH development.

Vascular endothelial cell dysfunction by treatment with Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 triggers ET-2 production.

EC dysfunction, which is characteristic of PAH, is known to contribute to expression of endothelins. Since we previously identified the proinflammatory chemokines CXCL9 and CXCL10 as a sex-specific source of EC dysfunction that are upregulated in PAH females compared to PAH males (**Chapter 3**), we hypothesized that CXCL9- and CXCL10-induced EC dysfunction could contribute to the increased ET-2 expression found in female PAH lungs. We measured the production of ET-2 by EC in the presence of elevated CXCL9 and CXCL10 and found human pulmonary artery EC incubated with exogeneous human CXCL9 and CXCL10 exhibited increased ET-2 secretion as measured by ELISA (**Figure 5**).



Figure 4. Endothelin receptor expression is upregulated in healthy female lungs compared to healthy males and altered in PAH in a sex-specific manner. A. In healthy human lungs, expression of ETA receptor is significantly higher in females compared to males (n=5-7/group). *p<0.05. **B.** In human PAH lungs, expression of ETB receptor is higher (though not significant, p=0.06) in PAH females compared to PAH males.



Figure 5. Human recombinant CXCL9 and CXCL10 chemokines promote ET-2 secretion by vascular endothelial cells. Quantification of ET-2 secretion in cultured medium of PAEC treated with Cxcl9 (**A**), or CXCL10 (**B**) as measured by ELISA. p<0.05 vs vehicle.

Discussion

This study identified a link between the expression of the protective Y chromosome gene Uty and the expression of ET-2 in the lung. Male mice with reduced *Uty* expression and female PAH patients with no *UTY* expression both exhibit elevated ET-2 expression in lung tissue. We found that both healthy and PAH females have increased expression of ET receptors compared to their male counterparts. This indicates that ET-2 signaling is increased in PAH females and may contribute sex-bias in disease susceptibility, progression, and response to treatment. Furthermore, we found crosstalk between the Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 inflammatory pathways (**Chapter 3**) and ET-2 upregulation, all of which we identified to be inversely related to Uty expression and correlated with PH disease severity.

While the powerful vasoconstrictive peptide ET-1 is known to be upregulated in male and female PAH patents, ET-2 upregulation in PAH female lungs has not been reported. Like ET-1, ET-2 signaling is also associated with vasoconstriction. In this way, we believe that elevated ET-2 signaling in female PAH lungs results in increased vasoconstriction in female patients. Previous studies also found additional cellular responses are altered as a result of ET-2 binding. ET-2 is known to inhibit EC proliferation and new vessel formation in the eye (9) and promote smooth muscle cell (SMC) proliferation in myometrium (10). ET-2 peptide, whose structure is similar to that of a CXC chemokine (11), has also been found to act as a proinflammatory signaling factor to recruit macrophages (12). All of these cellular pathways are known to contribute to PAH development. EC apoptosis, reduced angiogenesis, and aberrant SMC proliferation are hallmarks of the vascular dysfunction associated with PAH pathogenesis including formation of plexiform lesions, loss

pulmonary vascularization, and the muscularization and hypertrophy of distal arterioles (1, 13). Furthermore, elevated inflammation and altered macrophage ratio in the lung have been associated with, and even found to play a causal role in, PAH development (14, 15). Because of the overlap between ET-2 functions and PAH pathogenic pathways, we believe there is evidence to support a pathogenic role for ET-2 in PAH pathogenesis. We hope to continue to study the effects of ET-2 within the context of PAH and shed light on these important contributions to the disease.

Since ET-2 elevation is exclusive to females with PAH, alterations in ET-2-driven pathways are sex-specific. ET-2 shares the same receptors as ET-1, which are inhibited as a common therapy for PAH patients. Treatment with ERAs exhibit sex differences in efficacy since females are known to be more responsive to treatment than males (3, 4). We believe that our data help explain the molecular mechanism behind this sex difference. Since elevated ET-2 levels contribute to excess vasoconstriction and potentially other pathogenic pathways associated with PAH development, blocking the activity of ET-2 through ERA treatment attenuates these dysfunctional pathways which are excusive to females. In this way, female PAH patients report greater effects from ERA treatment since the benefit is multifactorial through the inhibition of both ET-1 and ET-2 driven pathogenic pathways.

Our data indicate that sex-specific elevation of ET-2 in PAH females is a result of sex differences imparted by sex chromosomes. ET-2, but not ET-1, is upregulated in male PH mice as a result of knockdown of the Y chromosome gene *Uty*. We previously found that Uty protects against PH and that loss of or no Uty expression results in elevated expression of proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 and increased vascular

endothelial cell dysfunction (**Chapter 3**). We found evidence of crosstalk between these pathways since incubation of EC with CXCL9 or CXCL10 was sufficient to increase ET-2 production by dysfunctional EC. Additionally, we previously found that Uty is expressed in the lung by macrophages, and proinflammatory macrophages lacking *Uty* produce increased levels of *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* (**Chapter 3**). Since ET-2 is a known macrophage chemoattractant, we believe lack of Uty in the lungs results in a proinflammatory positive feedback loop regulated by increased expression of Cxcl9, Cxcl10, and ET-2. In this way, we believe that a combination therapy blocking both the effects of Cxcl9, Cxcl10, and ET receptors could provide additive benefit to PAH patients compared to treatment with ERAs alone. Testing the potential synergistic effect between these two treatment strategies is another future direction for this project.

In summary, our working model is that Uty, a male-specific Y chromosome gene, protects against PH development. The absence of Uty in females results in more severe PH, in part, through increased expression of ET-2. Elevated ET-2 expression in female PAH patients contributes to PAH severity through increased vasoconstriction, vascular dysfunction, and inflammation. Blocking the action of ET-2 via ERAs reduces the severity of PH in a sex-specific manner rendering ERA treatment more effective in females (**Figure 6**). This work identifies a novel gene associated with PAH development, provides an explanation to the marked sex-disparities in ERA treatment, and highlights a potential combination treatment strategy for PAH patients.



Figure 6. Schematic of ET-2 overexpression in female PAH lungs. Females with PAH exhibit elevated ET-2 expression in their lungs with contributes to worsening PAH through increased vasoconstriction and inflammation. Blocking the activity of ET-1 and ET-2 through treatment with endothelin receptor antagonists (ERAs) exhibits a greater response in female PAH patients compared to males.

References

- 1. Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 2012;122:4306–4313.
- 2. Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 2008;118:2372–2379.
- 3. Marra AM, Benjamin N, Eichstaedt C, Salzano A, Arcopinto M, Gargani L, D Alto M, Argiento P, Falsetti L, Di Giosia P, Isidori AM, Ferrara F, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Grünig E. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;114:103–109.
- Mair KM, Johansen AKZ, Wright AF, Wallace E, MacLean MR. Pulmonary arterial hypertension: basis of sex differences in incidence and treatment response. *Br J Pharmacol* 2014;171:567–579.
- 5. Humbert M, Ghofrani H-A. The molecular targets of approved treatments for pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Thorax* 2016;71:73–83.
- Umar S, Cunningham CM, Itoh Y, Moazeni S, Vaillancourt M, Sarji S, Centala A, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. The Y Chromosome Plays a Protective Role in Experimental Hypoxic Pulmonary Hypertension. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2018;197:952–955.
- 7. Channick RN, Sitbon O, Barst RJ, Manes A, Rubin LJ. Endothelin receptor antagonists in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2004;43:62S-67S.

- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, Amin N, Schwikowski B, Ideker T. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res* 2003;13:2498–2504.
- Rattner A, Yu H, Williams J, Smallwood PM, Nathans J. Endothelin-2 signaling in the neural retina promotes the endothelial tip cell state and inhibits angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2013;110:E3830-3839.
- O'Reilly G, Charnock-Jones DS, Davenport AP, Cameron IT, Smith SK.
 Presence of messenger ribonucleic acid for endothelin-1, endothelin-2, and endothelin-3 in human endometrium and a change in the ratio of ETA and ETB receptor subtype across the menstrual cycle. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1992;75:1545– 1549.
- Saida K, Hashimoto M, Mitsui Y, Ishida N, Uchide T. The Prepro Vasoactive Intestinal Contractor (VIC)/Endothelin-2 Gene (EDN2): Structure, Evolution, Production, and Embryonic Expression. *Genomics* 2000;64:51–61.
- Grimshaw MJ, Wilson JL, Balkwill FR. Endothelin-2 is a macrophage chemoattractant: implications for macrophage distribution in tumors. *Eur J Immunol* 2002;32:2393–2400.
- 13. Budhiraja Rohit, Tuder Rubin M., Hassoun Paul M. Endothelial Dysfunction in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation* 2004;109:159–165.
- 14. Dorfmüller P, Perros F, Balabanian K, Humbert M. Inflammation in pulmonary arterial hypertension. *European Respiratory Journal* 2003;22:358–363.
Rabinovitch M, Guignabert C, Humbert M, Nicolls MR. Inflammation and Immunity in the Pathogenesis of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. *Circ Res* 2014;115:165–175. Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

Conclusions

PAH is a rare but terminal pulmonary vascular disease originating in the pulmonary arterioles that exhibits a marked female predominance. While PAH is subdivided based on shared or overlapping characteristics, the exact cellular mechanism by which pulmonary arteriole remodeling is triggered remains largely elusive. The work included in this dissertation presents a novel approach to study PAH pathological triggers using a hypothesis-based approach centered around the associated sex differences.

The original hypothesis explored in this dissertation was an attempt to better understand the complex sex differences found in PAH both clinically and experimentally. While females are up to 4x more likely to be diagnosed with PAH, they suffer from a milder form of the disease and are more responsive to treatment than males (1, 2). Experimental investigation into sex differences associated with PAH are paradoxical as well, and the "Estrogen Paradox in PAH" is a term coined to describe the culmination of decades of research being conducted on the role of estrogens in an attempt to understand these complex sex differences. In short, estrogens were found to be largely protective in animal models of PH despite female sex being a risk factor for the development of PAH. Estrogens have been shown to prevent and rescue PH development in animal models of PH by attenuating pulmonary vascular remodeling and reducing RV dilation and hypertrophy (3–6). Taken together, it is clear that other sex biasing factors influence PAH predisposition and disease severity, and this dissertation is a compilation of work highlighting the previously unknown sex chromosome contributions to this disease.

In the absence of circulating gonadal hormones, we found that the male-specific Y chromosome is protective against hypoxic PH in mice (7). This study was made possible

by the use of the Four Core Genotypes mouse model, which allowed us to parse apart the effects of sex chromosomes independent of gonadal sex, and the XY* mouse model, which allowed us to distinguish if our sex chromosome effect was due to the number of X chromosomes or the presence of a Y chromosome (Chapters 1, 2). Following gonadectomy, mice with XY chromosome complement exhibited reduced RV pressure and less pulmonary vascular muscularization compared to hypoxic gonadal male and female mice with XX chromosome complement. We then identified that this protective effect was due to the presence of the Y chromosome, and not a result of X chromosome dosage, since hypoxic gonadectomized mice with a Y chromosome (XY and XXY) exhibited decreased RV pressure compared to those without a Y chromosome (XO and XX) regardless of the number of X chromosomes (Chapter 2). This exciting finding led us to identify which genes encoded by the Y chromosome are expressed in the heart and lung tissue that could contribute to PH protection. We found four coding genes were expressed in these tissues (*Kdm5d, Uty, Ddx3y* and *Eif2s3y*), three of which were also conserved in human tissues (KDM5D, UTY, DDX3Y). Interestingly, our bioinformatic analysis of online human microarray data revealed two of these genes, KDM5D and UTY, were downregulated in lung tissue isolated from PAH males compared to healthy male lung tissue (Chapter 2).

By knocking down each Y chromosome gene expressed in gonadectomized hypoxic male mouse lungs via recurring intratracheal instillation of siRNA, we found that reduction of *Uty*, but not the other three Y chromosome encoded genes, was associated with loss of Y chromosome protection against PH (**Chapter 3**). In light of this evidence, we believe Uty to be the Y chromosome encoded gene responsible for Y chromosome protection.

While Uty is a member of the Jumonji family of histone demethylase enzymes which are known to remove methyl groups from histone 3 lysine residue 27, our studies did not find evidence of histone modification at this residue as a result of *Uty* expression. This finding is supported by the literature where multiple studies reported a loss of demethylase activity in the Uty gene (8–10), potentially as a result of the increased rate of mutation associated with Y chromosome genes due to the biological redundancy of X chromosome paralog genes and reduced evolutionary pressure (11). Understanding the mechanism of Uty gene action within the context of PH is a focus of future directions, but molecular pathways downstream of Uty expression that contribute to PH severity have already been elucidated by the studies in this dissertation.

We found that knockdown of Uty in hypoxic mouse lungs resulted in profound gene expression changes and inflammatory pathways being particularly perturbed (**Chapter 3**). Out of these genes, we identified the proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 as upregulated in both Uty knockdown mouse lungs and human female PAH patients, which have no Uty expression, compared to male patients. Indeed, the proinflammatory chemokines Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 are both upregulated in male and female PAH patient lungs compared to healthy control tissue with a more robust upregulation in female PAH lungs.

Using fluorescent *in situ* hybridization in mouse and human male lung tissue sections, we showed that *Uty* was not highly enriched in vascular cell types but was expressed by *Cd68*⁺ lung macrophages. We further identified that *Uty*, *Cxcl9*, and *Cxcl10* transcripts colocalized in *Cd68* expressing macrophages in the lungs and found a *Uty* expression directly affects *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* production within macrophage cells. Proinflammatory

bone marrow derived macrophages from Uty total knockout mice exhibited increased *Cxcl9* and *Cxcl10* expression when compared to those isolated from age-matched wildtype mice with Uty expression (**Chapter 3**). Since CXCL9 and CXCL10 chemokines elicit a proinflammatory response in tissues through binding the shared CXCR3 receptor on cells, including immune cells, we believe increased production of these chemokines in Uty-null macrophages produces a positive feedback loop by recruiting more Uty-null macrophages.

In addition to inflammatory cells, endothelial cells are also known to express the CXCR3 receptor. We further linked increased Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 expression to PAH pathogenesis using an *in vitro* assay of vascular endothelial cell dysfunction. Exogenous CXCL9 and CXCL10 treatment in healthy human endothelial cells isolated from the pulmonary artery resulted in cellular dysfunction as characterized by decreased viability and increased apoptosis (**Chapter 3**). Damaged endothelial cells are a hallmark of PAH pathogenic response and also trigger a vascular inflammatory response by expressing proinflammatory chemokines in turn (12, 13). We believe this is a catalyst for vascular remodeling in the lung that is compounded by vascular inflammation as a result of reduced or no Uty expression.

We found that *in vivo* inhibition of the activity of the proinflammatory chemokines downstream of Uty was sufficient to extend Y chromosome protection to females in a preclinical animal model. Administration of the small-molecule CXCR3 antagonist, AMG487, twice a day was able to rescue PH development in intact female rats with monocrotaline-induced PH (**Chapter 3**). We determined that AMG487 treatment was able to recue PH development, at least in part, by blocking Cxcl9- and Cxcl10-induced

vascular endothelial cell dysfunction since histological sections from treated lungs exhibited less vascular endothelial cell apoptosis compared to vehicle treated control lungs. We believe that this already FDA approved compound has clinical potential which is discussed in the future directions section below.

We also found a Uty-specific and sex-specific upregulation of the gene that encodes the ET-2 peptide (**Chapter 4**). ET-2 is a member of the vasoconstrictive endothelin family of peptides which includes ET-1. ET-1 is known to be upregulated in the lungs of PAH patients and is a target of many mainstay PAH therapies used clinically; however, the role of ET-2 was not previously known studied in PAH. While the expression of ET-1 is unchanged in the lungs of hypoxic mice as a result of *Uty* knockdown, ET-2 is upregulated in Uty knockdown lungs versus experimental control lungs. We found ET-2 upregulation in female PAH lungs compared healthy female lungs; however, we did not see an increase of ET-2 in male PAH lungs compared to healthy male lungs. Interestingly, it is known that female PAH patients are more responsive to endothelin receptor antagonist treatment than male patients (2), but the source of this sexual dimorphic response is not known. We hypothesize that ET-2 plays a female-specific pathogenic role in PAH development, and that blocking the activity of ET-2 through administration of an endothelin receptor antagonist is more effective in females since it attenuates the activity of both ET-1 and ET-2 signaling by blocking their shared endothelin receptors. Vasoconstrictive agents, like ET-1 and ET-2, contribute to increased pressure in the pulmonary vasculature which worsens PAH severity (12, 14).

Interestingly, we found evidence of crosstalk between ET-2 expression and the Uty downstream proinflammatory chemokines, Cxcl9 and Cxcl10. CXCL9 and CXCL10

treated vascular endothelial cells express increased levels of ET-2 peptide (**Chapter 4**). The structure of ET-2 peptide is strikingly similar to the proinflammatory chemokines, and it is known that ET-2 elicits an inflammatory response as well (15, 16). We think this is further proof of a proinflammatory feedback loop in the lungs that is mitigated by Uty expression in healthy males and pathogenic in males or females with reduced or no Uty expression, respectively.

Taken together, this dissertation provides compelling evidence that the Y chromosome gene Uty influences the sexually dimorphic predisposition and clinical response in PAH and highlights a sex-specific immune response in PAH patients that influences disease development which can be targeted as a novel therapeutic pathway (**Figure 1**). Further investigation into the molecular mechanism of Uty action and its downstream pathways will likely lead to even greater understanding of the PAH disease process and associated sex differences. These future studies are outlined in the following section.



Fig. 1. Schematic of the proposed mechanism of Y chromosome gene, Uty, protection in PH through the downstream genes Cxcl9/10 and ET-2 and potential therapeutic targets. *Panel A*: Integration of our RNAseq analysis with an online microarray dataset of male and female human PAH lung samples revealed Cxcl9/10 and ET-2 as potential downstream effector genes in Uty mediated PH protection. *Panel B*: Proposed mechanism of Uty/Cxcl9/10 and Uty/ET-2 axes in PH pathogenesis. CXCL9/10 promote endothelial cell apoptosis and increase ET-2 secretion supporting a cross talk between CXCL9/10 and ET-2. Increased ET-2 expression results in increased vasoconstriction. Both downstream pathways contribute to increased PAH severity. *Panel C*: Overview of downstream Uty therapeutic targets via Cxcl9/10 and ET-2 which can be blocked using AMG487 alone or in combination with endothelin receptor antagonists (ERAs).

Future Directions

The experiments performed in this dissertation to identify the Y chromosome protective effect in experimental PH and further identify Uty as the Y chromosome protective gene were all carried out in the absence of circulating gonadal hormones. Gonadal hormones, including estrogens, progesterone, and testosterone, have been studied in the context of PH and found to have an effect in disease severity (17). We performed gonadectomy on our animals 30 days prior to the start of our experiments, which investigate the role of sex chromosomes and their genes, in order to eliminate gonadal hormone effects as a variable. While this was a viable strategy to identify the role of the Y chromosome and Uty gene within PH, it limits our understanding of Y chromosome and Uty protection within a gonadally intact environment. There is the possibility that Y chromosome protection through Uty interacts with gonadal hormones in a direct or indirect way, and sex chromosome-sex hormone interactions have been previous described in literature (18). To test for any interaction between gonadal hormones in Uty protection against PH, we would first perform Uty knockdown experiments in gonad-intact male mice to identify whether loss of Uty still aggravates PH development in the presence of gonadal hormones. If the effect of Uty knockdown is enhanced or eliminated within the gonadalintact environment, a comparison of the lung transcriptome of Uty knockdown mice in the presence and absence of gonads would help elucidate pathways downstream of Uty that are affected by a hormonal interaction. Based on these differences, cell-specific in vitro experiments could be performed with and without testosterone to further identify downstream Uty pathways that are testosterone dependent. The downstream hormone

interaction studies would focus on testosterone since it is the main gonadal hormone found in males, and our research identified a PH protective effect specific to males.

While *Uty* downregulation within the hypoxic lung resulted in 523 differently regulated genes, the exact mechanism as to how Uty imparts large transcriptomic changes is not known. Our studies investigating Uty as a histone demethylase in the context of PH echoed the literature which concludes that the Uty protein has lost its demethylase activity. Still, research suggests that Uty does play a role in epigenetic modification potentially through indirect mechanisms by associating with the BRG1 methyltransferase complex which alters the methylation state of the histone 3 lysine residue 4 (9). Further experiments looking at the methylation state of the H3K4 residue in the presence and absence of Uty could explore this hypothesis. Since there is no specific antibody for Uty, however, it is difficult to determine the direct chromatin or protein interactions of Uty. Ultimately, the generation of a flag-tagged Uty knock-in mouse or macrophage cell line would allow for the chromatin immunoprecipitation or co-immunoprecipitation experiments necessary to further parse apart the cellular mechanism of UTY.

Our data found that *UTY* is downregulated in lungs of mice exposed to chronic hypoxia versus normoxia and in male PAH patient lungs versus healthy lungs. This suggests that *UTY* expression is associated with PAH, and our further investigation found that *Uty* downregulation is also causal in PAH development. However, we do not know if hypoxia alone is sufficient to trigger the Uty downregulation found in hypoxic mice and PAH patients with poor gas exchange. Future studies aimed to investigate this could expose male wildtype lung macrophages, and other Uty expressing lung cell types, to hypoxic insult and measure the effect on Uty expression. If Uty is downregulated in cells as a

result of hypoxic insult alone, experiments could determine if loss of Uty expression is a hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha (HIF-1 α) regulated process. Experiments could challenge cells with HIF-1 α stabilizers and inhibitors and then measure if Uty expression is downregulated or unchanged, respectively. If Uty downregulation is HIF-1 α dependent, it would explain why Uty is downregulated in hypoxic experimental conditions and in hypoxic male PAH patient lung tissue.

This work uncovered a sex-specific pathogenic immune response in PAH related to Uty expression. Males who express Uty in their lungs are protected from PAH development and exhibit lower Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 proinflammatory chemokines levels. Alternatively, males or females with little or no Uty expression exhibit an upregulation of these inflammatory factors and worse PAH. Since we found Uty expression in macrophages inversely regulates Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 expression which drives Uty-associated PAH protection or development, we hypothesize that bone marrow transplant experiments with bone marrow reconstitution from a wildtype male mouse to a male total Uty knockout mouse would be sufficient to extend Uty protection. Conversely, bone marrow reconstitution from a male Uty knockout mouse to a male wildtype mouse should eliminate Y chromosome protective effects in these animals.

To our knowledge, the *in situ* hybridization images using *Uty/UTY*-specific mRNA probes are the first to demonstrate Uty localization in male mouse and human lung tissue. Based on these images and our co-labeling with macrophage marker Cd68, we know that lung macrophages express Uty. These images also show Uty positive nuclei that lack Cd68 expression which indicates that Uty is also expressed in other lung cell types. Single-cell sequencing of male mouse lungs in combination with duplex *in situ* hybridization for Uty

and various cell-specific markers could be performed to identify other lung cell types that express Uty in the lung. Once identified, *in vitro* gain and loss of function studies could be performed to determine the cell-specific functions of Uty in relation to PAH development.

This dissertation presents a novel therapeutic strategy for the treatment of PAH through blocking the activity of the CXCL9 and CXCL10 chemokines via administration of a small molecule inhibitor of their shared receptor, CXCR3. We show that two-week treatment is sufficient to rescue PH development in intact female rats with monocrotaline-induced PH. Prior to moving this FDA-approved therapy to clinical trials for PAH, it is important to test the efficacy of this treatment in intact males and in a second animal model of PH. Since *UTY* is downregulated in PAH male lungs, it is reasonable that a therapy targeting the activity of chemokines regulated by Uty would be a viable strategy in PAH males as well as females who lack Uty altogether. However, it remains to be seen if testosterone interacts with or blocks Uty-mediated effects. Testing the efficacy of AMG487 therapy in intact males and comparing the protective effect to that of treated females would shed light on whether this treatment is applicable for both male and female PAH patients.

Furthermore, considering the animal models of PH that we use preclinically fail to perfectly recapitulate PAH in humans, it is important to also test our novel therapeutic strategy in an additional animal model of PH. This is particularly important since the monocrotaline model of PH is an inflammatory model and our treatment works through blocking an inflammatory process. Future studies are needed to test the efficacy of CXCR3 inhibition therapy in model where the mechanism of action is not rooted in inflammation, such as the Sugen/hypoxia model in rats which promotes PH development through vascular endothelial cell death and chronic hypoxia (19). Finally, the most

important test would be a clinical trial that examines the efficacy of AMG487 inhibition of CXCR3 in humans. Since we show increased Cxcl9 and Cxcl10 expression in the lungs increases endothelial dysfunction and production of the vasoconstrictive peptide ET-2, we believe that adding AMG487 treatment in combination with an endothelin receptor antagonist, which are already prescribed to PAH patients, has the potential to produce an additive beneficial effect in PAH patients.

We found that loss of *Uty* expression in male mice is associated with an increase in lung ET-2 expression. In humans, this increased ET-2 expression is exclusive to female PAH patients and could contribute to known clinical sex differences in response to treatment with endothelin receptor antagonists. In addition to vasoconstrictive properties, studies have shown that ET-2 can influence angiogenesis and cellular proliferation which are both pathways that are altered in PAH (13, 16, 20, 21). Future studies will examine whether ET-2 plays a causal role in PAH development via reducing the angiogenic response to hypoxia and increasing vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation. In addition, the structure of ET-2 peptide is strikingly similar to that of CXC proinflammatory chemokines (15). Future experiments should also test macrophage migration in response to ET-2. If these experiments show ET-2 contributes in a causal way to PAH development, this will identify a novel female-specific PAH disease process.

As mentioned throughout this text, females are up to 4x more likely to be diagnosed with PAH compared to males. Our studies show that males are protected from PAH development because of their expression of the Y chromosome gene Uty; however, Uty expression does not explain why males, once diagnosed, exhibit a more severe form of the disease. We found that *UTY* is downregulated in PAH males which indicates that the

protective effects of Uty may be abrogated in these males. We hypothesize that loss of *UTY* expression in males who are predisposed to PAH development by another factor associated with PAH may be a trigger for severe PAH development—similar to the "two-hit" phenomenon in PAH where those predisposed to PAH development require a "second hit" from a secondary PAH-associated factor to develop the disease (22). In this way, it would be interesting to examine if *Uty* downregulation would provoke PH development in mice with a heterozygous mutation in the *Bmpr2* gene. *BMPR2* is the most studied hereditary mutation associated with PAH development in patients, however, the penetrance of the mutation is low (~20%) (23). It has been shown that in order to develop PH, these mice must have an additional PAH-associated phenotype, such as inflammation. Since we found loss of *Uty* expression in male mice is associated with an upregulation of proinflammatory factors, we hypothesize that downregulating *Uty* expression will act as a "second hit" in *Bmpr2* mutant mice and trigger PAH.

Finally, all of the findings within this dissertation were a result of studying the effects of the Y chromosome gene *Uty* within the lung; however, PAH patients ultimately succumb to right ventricular failure. The ability of the right ventricle to compensate for the increased pulmonary pressures in PAH is the greatest indicator of disease severity, prognosis, and survival (24). There are known sex-specific differences in right ventricular function in PAH patients that are linked to sex hormones. It remails to be seen, however, if sex chromosomes influence right ventricular compensation to pressure overload. Studies examining the effects of *Uty* expression in response to pressure overload in a PH-independent model, such as pulmonary artery banding, would elucidate if Uty is also protective in mediating right ventricular failure.

Final remarks from the author

PAH is a rare but terminal pulmonary vascular disease that predominantly affects women. The current therapies for this devastating disease are largely inadequate, and research into novel therapeutic strategies is paramount to increase patient survival. It has been a privilege to study this disease, provide creative insight into its pathogenesis, and extend some hope to affected patients. It is my greatest hope that the preclinical therapies reported in this work are able to be tested in clinical trials and that this work continues beyond the pages of this dissertation. Finally, I hope that this dissertation serves as a call-to-action that encourages researchers to segregate data by sex in a well-powered and meaningful way, and as a how-to guide for translating a sex-specific phenotype from bench to bedside.

<u>References</u>

- Badesch DB, Raskob GE, Elliott CG, Krichman AM, Farber HW, Frost AE, Barst RJ, Benza RL, Liou TG, Turner M, Giles S, Feldkircher K, Miller DP, McGoon MD. Pulmonary arterial hypertension: baseline characteristics from the REVEAL Registry. *Chest* 2010;137:376–387.
- Marra AM, Benjamin N, Eichstaedt C, Salzano A, Arcopinto M, Gargani L, D Alto M, Argiento P, Falsetti L, Di Giosia P, Isidori AM, Ferrara F, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Grünig E. Gender-related differences in pulmonary arterial hypertension targeted drugs administration. *Pharmacol Res* 2016;114:103–109.
- Rabinovitch M, Gamble WJ, Miettinen OS, Reid L. Age and sex influence on pulmonary hypertension of chronic hypoxia and on recovery. *Am J Physiol* 1981;240:H62-72.
- 4. Farhat MY, Chen MF, Bhatti T, Iqbal A, Cathapermal S, Ramwell PW. Protection by oestradiol against the development of cardiovascular changes associated with monocrotaline pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Br J Pharmacol* 1993;110:719–723.
- Umar S, Iorga A, Matori H, Nadadur RD, Li J, Maltese F, van der Laarse A, Eghbali
 M. Estrogen rescues preexisting severe pulmonary hypertension in rats. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;184:715–723.
- 6. Frump AL, Goss KN, Vayl A, Albrecht M, Fisher A, Tursunova R, Fierst J, Whitson J, Cucci AR, Brown MB, Lahm T. Estradiol improves right ventricular function in rats with severe angioproliferative pulmonary hypertension: effects of endogenous and exogenous sex hormones. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 2015;308:L873-890.

- Cunningham CM, Umar S, Doshi M, Li M, Ruffenach G, Hrncir H, Arnold AP, Eghbali M. Y-Chromosome Gene, Uty, Protects Against Pulmonary Hypertension by Reducing Lung Pro-Inflammatory Cytokines. *FASEB J* 2020;34:1–1.
- Lan F, Bayliss PE, Rinn JL, Whetstine JR, Wang JK, Chen S, Iwase S, Alpatov R, Issaeva I, Canaani E, Roberts TM, Chang HY, Shi Y. A histone H3 lysine 27 demethylase regulates animal posterior development. *Nature* 2007;449:689–694.
- Shpargel KB, Sengoku T, Yokoyama S, Magnuson T. UTX and UTY demonstrate histone demethylase-independent function in mouse embryonic development. *PLoS Genet* 2012;8:e1002964.
- 10. Hong S, Cho Y-W, Yu L-R, Yu H, Veenstra TD, Ge K. Identification of JmjC domaincontaining UTX and JMJD3 as histone H3 lysine 27 demethylases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2007;104:18439–18444.
- 11. Bellott DW, Hughes JF, Skaletsky H, Brown LG, Pyntikova T, Cho T-J, Koutseva N, Zaghlul S, Graves T, Rock S, Kremitzki C, Fulton RS, Dugan S, Ding Y, Morton D, Khan Z, Lewis L, Buhay C, Wang Q, Watt J, Holder M, Lee S, Nazareth L, Alföldi J, Rozen S, Muzny DM, Warren WC, Gibbs RA, Wilson RK, *et al.* Mammalian Y chromosomes retain widely expressed dosage-sensitive regulators. *Nature* 2014;508:494–499.
- 12. Budhiraja Rohit, Tuder Rubin M., Hassoun Paul M. Endothelial Dysfunction in Pulmonary Hypertension. *Circulation* 2004;109:159–165.
- 13. Rabinovitch M. Molecular pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *J Clin Invest* 2012;122:4306–4313.

- 14. McKay KO, Black JL, Armour CL. The mechanism of action of endothelin in human lung. *Br J Pharmacol* 1991;102:422–428.
- Grimshaw MJ, Wilson JL, Balkwill FR. Endothelin-2 is a macrophage chemoattractant: implications for macrophage distribution in tumors. *Eur J Immunol* 2002;32:2393–2400.
- 16. Ling L, Maguire JJ, Davenport AP. Endothelin-2, the forgotten isoform: emerging role in the cardiovascular system, ovarian development, immunology and cancer. *Br J Pharmacol* 2013;168:283–295.
- 17. Hester J, Ventetuolo C, Lahm T. Sex, Gender, and Sex Hormones in Pulmonary Hypertension and Right Ventricular Failure. *Compr Physiol* 2019;10:125–170.
- 18. X chromosome dosage of histone demethylase KDM5C determines sex differences in adiposity. at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7598065/.
- 19. Taraseviciene-Stewart L, Kasahara Y, Alger L, Hirth P, Mc Mahon G, Waltenberger J, Voelkel NF, Tuder RM. Inhibition of the VEGF receptor 2 combined with chronic hypoxia causes cell death-dependent pulmonary endothelial cell proliferation and severe pulmonary hypertension. *FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol* 2001;15:427–438.
- 20. Rattner A, Yu H, Williams J, Smallwood PM, Nathans J. Endothelin-2 signaling in the neural retina promotes the endothelial tip cell state and inhibits angiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2013;110:E3830-3839.
- 21. O'Reilly G, Charnock-Jones DS, Davenport AP, Cameron IT, Smith SK. Presence of messenger ribonucleic acid for endothelin-1, endothelin-2, and endothelin-3 in

human endometrium and a change in the ratio of ETA and ETB receptor subtype across the menstrual cycle. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1992;75:1545–1549.

- 22. Geraci MW, Bull TM, Tuder RM. Genomics of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: Implications for Therapy. *Heart Fail Clin* 2010;6:101–114.
- 23. White R. James, Morrell Nicholas W. Understanding the Low Penetrance of Bone Morphogenetic Protein Receptor 2 Gene Mutations. *Circulation* 2012;126:1818– 1820.
- 24. D'Alonzo GE, Barst RJ, Ayres SM, Bergofsky EH, Brundage BH, Detre KM, Fishman AP, Goldring RM, Groves BM, Kernis JT. Survival in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Results from a national prospective registry. *Ann Intern Med* 1991;115:343–349.